

# A Guide to the Use of Penalties to Improve Road Safety



GLOBAL **ROAD SAFETY** PARTNERSHIP

© International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies 2021.

All rights reserved. This publication or any part thereof may not be reproduced, distributed, published, modified, cited, copied, translated into other languages or adapted without prior written permission from the International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies. All photos used in this document are copyright of the IFRC unless otherwise indicated.

#### Acknowledgements

This guide was prepared for the Global Road Safety Partnership, a hosted programme of the International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies. Dr Chika Sakashita was the lead author, with significant contributions from Dr Judy Fleiter, Dave Cliff, Marcin Flieger, Brett Harman and Malcolm Lilley (Global Road Safety Partnership).

#### **Recommended citation:**

Sakashita, C. Fleiter, J.J, Cliff, D., Flieger, M., Harman, B. & Lilley, M (2021). A Guide to the Use of Penalties to Improve Road Safety. Global Road Safety Partnership, Geneva, Switzerland.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 4 GLOSSARY
- 5 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
- 6 PURPOSE OF THIS GUIDE
- 7 INTRODUCTION
- 8 TYPES OF PENALTY
- 13 NON-LEGAL CONSEQUENCES OF LEGAL PENALTIES
- **14** EFFECTIVENESS OF PENALTIES
- 16 HOW TO INCREASE THE EFFECTS OF PENALTIES 24
  - **16** DETERRENCE THEORY
    - **16** Certainty of punishment
    - **17** Severity of punishment
    - 20 Swiftness of punishment
- 21 PROCEDUREAL JUSTICE & PERCEIVED FAIRNESS
- 22 SOCIAL NORMS
- 23 COHERENT PENALTY ADMINISTRATION SYSTEM
- 24 APPENDIX
- 31 REFERENCES

# **GLOSSARY**

**Enforcement tolerance**: The margin above the posted speed limit within which drivers will not be cited for a speeding violation. This margin can be a percentage (e.g. 10% above the speed limit) or stated as an amount (e.g. 10 kms above the speed limit).

**General deterrence**: The extent to which people are deterred from doing a certain behaviour such as speeding, not because they have been caught, but because they believe they may be caught and the consequences are undesirable.

**LMIC:** Low- and middle-income countries

**Penalty:** In this Guide, it specifically refers to a legal punishment imposed for breaking the traffic law or rules

**Specific deterrence**: The extent to which a person is deterred from doing a certain behaviour because they have been caught and penalised for that behaviour before and do not want to experience the consequences again

**Traffic offence**: Unlawful activities that occur while an individual is operating a motor vehicle. It may also be referred to as traffic violations.

**Traffic offenders:** Individuals who commit unlawful activities while operating a motor vehicle

# EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Issuing penalties for traffic offences is a key component of behaviour change techniques which have been used extensively in many jurisdictions. The use of penalties aims to encourage people to use the road system safely and to comply with traffic laws.

Deterrence principles suggest that people make behavioural choices based on their personal perceptions about the threat of associated penalties. This threat is said to be determined by a combination of the perceived threat of being caught for breaking the law (*perceived risk of apprehension*), and perceptions about the certainty, severity and swiftness of punishments when caught. The research evidence about which of these four aspects are most influential is mixed.

In practice, many factors influence compliance with traffic laws and levels of offending. Penalties for noncompliance with traffic laws are intended to modify road user behaviour but they are not tailored to individual circumstances. Different penalties are likely to impact people in different ways. The behavioural effects of a penalty may also vary from country to country because of a wide range of factors including: differences in the philosophy of crime and justice, perceived fairness of legislative processes, prevailing social norms and cultural beliefs, penalty administration processes (i.e. administrative versus judicial processes), coherence of licensing and registration systems, level and type of police enforcement, and the level at which a behaviour is considered illegal (e.g. speed limits, blood alcohol concentration [BAC] limit). Evaluation studies also tend to examine the effects of a package of sanctions rather than an individual sanction effect. Therefore, it is difficult to isolate specific effects of individual penalty types.

Experience and evidence suggest that there are multiple ways to increase the impact of penalties to bring about desired behaviour change. It is important to recognise that there is no specific way to easily determine how severe a penalty should be to deter people from committing a traffic offence. Different penalties are likely to impact people in different ways. For example, a monetary fine might be meaningful and influential for someone with limited financial resources, yet may have no influence on the offending behaviour of someone who can easily afford to pay the monetary fine. Conversely, a person with greater financial means may be influenced more effectively by receiving a demerit point penalty than a monetary fine.

A suite of penalty options is available and includes:

- Fines (graduated penalty, whereby increasing seriousness of offence results in increasing fine amounts prescribed in a schedule)
- Penalty point system (Demerit points or Merit points)
- Licence sanctions (Licence suspension, Immediate licence suspension, Licence disqualification, Licence restriction)
- Vehicle sanctions (Vehicle impoundment, Registration plate withdrawal, Vehicle immobilisation)
- Alcohol interlock
- Remedial programmes (treatment / rehabilitation)
- Imprisonment

The choice of penalty may be determined based on the objectives, and the advantages and disadvantages of each type of penalty, as well as evidence relating to each penalty type (see summary Table in Appendix). The objectives of the penalties involve understanding of the penalty audience – whether to achieve general deterrence which targets the whole population (prevent offending overall), and/or to achieve specific deterrence, which targets those who have already experienced detection, prosecution, and punishment (prevent re-offending). Different types of penalties are often combined to intensify the deterrent effect and achieve the best safety outcomes. Regardless of the type of penalty, they must only be applied in accordance with legislated authority. Penalties have an important educative role in that they can signal the level of risk that is involved with various offences. For instance, it is important that risker and more dangerous behaviours result in more severe penalties. In this way, the severity of the penalty is aligned to the level of danger imposed on the community by the person breaking the law.

# PURPOSE OF THIS GUIDE

This Guide provides information about different types of penalties that have been applied to traffic offences. Penalties for traffic offences are a critical component of behaviour change techniques that have been used extensively with the aim of encouraging road users to comply with traffic laws and to use the road system safely. Having evidence-based legislation in place is important, but alone, it will not sufficiently deter illegal behaviours. Compliance with traffic laws can be achieved from the combined effects of legislation, increased public awareness, enforcement, and penalties. This Guide focuses on the penalty component only.



# **INTRODUCTION**

Road users violate traffic laws for different reasons. Some people intentionally behave illegally. Other people might perform the same illegal behaviour unknowingly, while others may do so because of impaired judgement from alcohol and/or drugs. The threat of receiving penalties that are severe enough to deter offending may create intentions not to break the law, which in turn, can result in decreased offending.

The underlying principle guiding the use of penalties is that behaviours that result in negative consequences are less likely to recur. Deterrence principles suggest that people make behavioural choices based on their personal perceptions of the threat of associated penalties<sup>1</sup>. This threat is said to be determined by a combination of four things: the perceived threat of being caught for breaking the law (*perceived risk of apprehension*), and the perceived certainty, severity and swiftness of punishments when caught<sup>2</sup>. The overall effect of penalties is linked to each of these four aspects of deterrence theory. The research evidence relating to which aspects of deterrence are most influential is mixed<sup>3</sup>.

There are two additional deterrence-related concepts linked to enforcement of penalty regimes: general and specific deterrence. General deterrence refers to the impact of legislation and its enforcement on the whole population. The general deterrent effect relies on the general public having the perception that laws are enforced and that the risk of being caught and punished is high. Specific deterrence, by contrast, relates only to people who have already experienced detection, prosecution and punishment. The specific deterrent effect relies on offenders believing that their previous punishment experiences are sufficiently negative to deter reoffending. This inevitably has a varying degree of success in the offending population, ranging from reduced volume of offences and reduced seriousness of offences, to stopping offending altogether.

This Guide describes ways in which a robust penalty system may be implemented and draws on international evidence to inform recommendations. It is important to note that there is no pre-defined way to easily determine how severe a penalty should be to deter people from committing a traffic offence. Different penalties are likely to impact people in different ways. For example, a monetary fine might be meaningful and influential for someone with limited financial resources, yet may have no influence on the offending behaviour of someone who can easily afford to pay the monetary fine. Conversely, a person with greater financial means may be influenced more effectively by receiving a demerit point penalty than a monetary fine.



# TYPES OF PENALTY

Legal sanctions – also referred to as penalties – impose punishment on those who violate laws and regulations governing the safe use of the road system. In addition to punishment, the objectives of penalties may include restraining offenders from committing further offences, reforming offenders, and threatening wouldbe offenders from offending.

A variety of penalties can be applied to those who are caught breaking road traffic laws and regulations. Table 1 provides a list of penalties which may be applied to traffic offences. The type of penalty may be determined based on considerations of objectives, and the various advantages and disadvantages of each penalty type (Table 1), in addition to evidence (see Table 2)<sup>4</sup>. Penalties may also be combined to intensify their deterrent nature. For example, monetary fines and demerit points may be imposed for certain violations instead of just the fine or demerit point penalty alone. There are two processes in which a penalty may be administered:

- Judicial process: Penalties are determined in court where the application of penalty and its severity are contingent upon conviction.
- Administrative process: Penalties are applied without the direct intervention of a court, through the processes associated with the issue of a penalty notice (although an accused offender may choose to challenge this in court).

Generally, the lack of court involvement in administrative processes allows the penalty to be applied with greater swiftness and certainty and less administrative costs than judicial processes that involve the court to determine the penalty and its severity<sup>5</sup>. However, the certainty of judicially-imposed penalties may be improved through the adoption of prescribed penalties for the offence such as mandatory minimum licence disqualification periods<sup>6</sup>.



### Table 1 - Different types of penalties<sup>7</sup>

Penalty type	Description	Primary objective	Advantages	Disadvantages
Fines (a predetermined and graduated monetary penalty)	A monetary sanction to be paid by the offender to a given department by a specified date. The amount of the fine should increase according to the severity of the offence (e.g. a graduated penalty means that higher amounts of speeding should attract larger monetary fines). The amount of the fine should be pre-determined, prescribed in a schedule, and publicised so that offenders know the amount, and so that police are unable to change the amount of the fine when interacting with offenders.	Punish offenders to deter future offending; Deter would-be offenders from offending	May provide revenue to directly support investment in road safety activities (e.g. enforcement). Predetermined (fixed) fine amounts reduce the potential for corruption when police interact with offenders, particularly if the fine payment is administered through a third-party government organisation (not police).	Fines issued at the police-offender interception point create opportunities for corruption if the fine amount is not pre-determined and publicised. Socio-economic status may determine how impactful this is for individuals. For example, a USD10 penalty in India for a low-income driver may be a significant penalty and likely to deter future offending. However, this same penalty for a high-income driver, or a driver in high-income country may not see this as a severe penalty and may therefore not be deterred by it. These equity issues may be addressed by setting fine amounts in proportion to income (e.g. Finland) or in consideration of weekly median wage in the country. However, they require excellent records of income for every citizen in the country, which is unlikely to be available in most LMICs.
Demerit points	Points accumulate from 0 to a higher number if a driver commits an offence and usually remain valid for a number of years. When the total number of demerit points reach a certain threshold within a defined period (e.g. 12 or more points within a 3 year period), another penalty is imposed – usually licence suspension or disqualification.	Deter offenders from committing further offences; Deter would-be offenders from offending.	The impact of points is likely to be more equitable across different income earners than a monetary fine <sup>8</sup> . Repeated offending attracts more points providing good specific effects <sup>9</sup> . May be perceived fairer penalty and receive good public support <sup>10</sup> .	Offenders may transfer the collected points to another individual (e.g. with no or few points) <sup>11</sup> if the driver at the time of offence was not identified (e.g. in automated enforcement – however, only where the camera does not include a photo of the driver) and the penalty notice was sent to the registered vehicle owner; Reliant on an effective licence system that can follow offender's offence records and effectively apply suspension when threshold is reached.

Penalty type	Description	Primary objective	Advantages	Disadvantages
Merit points	Points are lost from a set number (e.g. 100) until it reaches 0 if a driver commits an offence. The credit of points usually remains valid for a number of years. When the credit drops to 0, another penalty is imposed – usually licence suspension or disqualification.	Deter offenders from committing further offences; Deter would-be offenders from offending.	The impact of points is likely to be more equitable across different income earners than a monetary fine <sup>12</sup> .	Offenders may engage in the fraudulent use of points belonging to others if the driver at the time of offence was not identified (e.g. in automated enforcement – however, only where the camera does not include a photo of the driver) and the penalty notice was sent to the registered vehicle owner; Reliant on an effective licence system that can follow offender's offence records and effectively apply suspension when threshold is reached.
Licence suspension	Suspended licence holder is banned from driving at all times during the period of suspension. The licence is automatically reinstated after the suspension period.	Deter and prohibit offenders from committing further offences; Deter would-be offenders from offending.	Limits opportunities for re- offending during the term of the sanction.	Suspended drivers may continue to drive even though not legally licensed <sup>13</sup> ; Suspension may be perceived as unfair, especially in relation to its impact on an offender's capacity to earn a living if that is linked to ability to drive (especially so for offenders residing in rural/remote locations without access to public transport) Reliant on an effective licence system that keeps accurate records and communicates with the offender and enforcement agency.
Immediate licence suspension/ Roadside licence suspension	Licence is suspended and confiscated on the spot by police for a serious offence (e.g. high-level speeding, drink driving, driving offence causing death and serious injury) generally for a defined period (e.g. 28 days)	Deter and prohibit offenders from committing further serious offences; Deter would-be offenders from committing serious offences.	In contrast to traditional suspension (above), the deterrent effect of immediate/roadside suspension is swift – one of the critical elements of increasing deterrence.	Police officer can apply the immediate suspension which cannot be applied to camera- detected offences. Requires a system where the immediate suspension of driving licence is recorded immediately so that authorities are aware of the suspension.
Licence disqualification / revocation	Disqualified/revoked licence holder is banned from driving at all times during the period of disqualification. The licence is reinstated only when the driver reapplies for the licence at the end of the disqualification period. However, a driver can never drive again when lifetime disqualification applies.	Deter and prohibit offenders from committing further offences; Deter would-be offenders from offending.	Limits opportunities for re- offending during the term of the sanction.	Disqualified drivers may continue to drive <sup>14</sup> ; Reliant on an effective licence system that keeps good records and communicates with the offender and enforcement officers. Requires a system where court-imposed disqualifications are recorded in the licence system in a timely manner.

Penalty type	Description	Primary objective	Advantages	Disadvantages
Licence restriction	Licence holder is banned from driving during the period of restriction except for certain purposes (e.g. to drive to and from employment or medical treatment) that may be determined by court or other authority. Offenders are usually required to demonstrate that they would suffer unnecessarily from being prohibited from driving in order to be granted a restricted licence.	Deter and prohibit offenders from committing further offences; Deter would-be offenders from offending.	Reduces opportunities for re-offending during the term of the sanction and may increase caution and vigilance when driving. May create social acceptance of this type of penalty due to recognition of economic needs of offender.	<ul> <li>Widespread use of restricted licences may undermine both specific and general deterrence because the offenders do not experience the full impact of punishment<sup>15</sup>;</li> <li>Court decisions on who is granted restricted versus full licence suspension may also create social inequity;</li> <li>Reliant on an effective licence system that keeps good records and communicates with the offender and enforcement officers.</li> <li>Licence restriction provisions must appear and be obvious on the driver licence. If not, police officers may miss seeing the restriction when intercepting the driver on subsequent occasions.</li> </ul>
Vehicle sanctions	Vehicle is confiscated from the offender. Impounded/forfeited vehicles may be returned after the sanction period with payment of a fee. Alternatively, the licence plate may be seized, a sticker attached to the licence plate to show anyone but the offender is permitted to drive the vehicle, vehicle registration withdrawn, or vehicle immobilised on the offender's property with a "boot" or "club" without the offender having to forfeit the vehicle for impoundment. Usually applied to serious offences and/or repeat offenders for whom other penalties were unsuccessful in stopping re-offending.	Prohibit offenders from committing further offences; Deter would-be offenders from offending.	Removes opportunities for re-offending during the term of the sanction; Drivers may find it more difficult to continue driving without a vehicle than without a licence. Evidence suggests that vehicle impoundment increases licence suspension compliance <sup>16</sup> .	Not directly punitive for offender if s/he is not the owner of the vehicle; If the impounded vehicle belongs to someone other than the offender, the vehicle may be returned under certain conditions; Offender may have access to another vehicle to use. Issues can arise when the value of the vehicle is less than the total cost of impoundment and the offender chooses not to collect their vehicle in lieu of fee payment. Additionally, vehicle sanctions may be perceived as unfair, especially for offenders living in rural/remote locations with little or no access to public transport. Conversely, when the cost of the vehicle is high, offenders may flee the scene at speed, creating additional risks <sup>17</sup> .
Alcohol interlock	Technology fitted to vehicle so that it cannot be started until a pre-set breath test is passed. Primarily designed to modify the behaviour of drink driving offenders, especially high range BAC and/or repeat offenders, rather than to perform a general deterrent function.	Prohibit offenders from committing further alcohol-related offences.	Removes opportunities for alcohol-related re-offending during the term of the sanction in the vehicle that has the interlock fitted	Interlock can only be applied to offenders who own a vehicle. Access to interlock equipment and maintenance may be limited in rural locations. Recording the Interlock Condition on the driver licence must be obvious otherwise it may be overlooked by intercepting police. In addition, the Interlock Condition should transfer between jurisdictions so that offender cannot obtain a non-interlock licence in another jurisdiction during the term of the penalty.

Penalty type	Description	Primary objective	Advantages	Disadvantages
Remedial programs (treatment/	Primarily designed to modify the behaviour of offenders, especially drink driving offenders, rather than to perform a general	Reform offenders	Remedial programs may more effectively address the factors contributing to alcohol- and drug-	Good assessment procedures are required to match offenders to the most appropriate interventions <sup>18</sup> ;
rehabilitation)	deterrent function. The programs may be educational focused on knowledge and/or psychological focused on behavioural change		specific offences.	Cost-effectiveness of different approaches are unclear.
	and run over weeks.			Access in rural and remote settings may be limited.
Imprisonment	Offenders are imprisoned for some (serious) traffic offences such as drink-driving,	Prohibit offenders from committing further offences.	Highlights to the community the seriousness of the offence.	More costly to implement than other penalties.
	disqualified driving, or dangerous driving causing death.	Deter would-be offenders from offending.	Removes opportunities for re-offending during the term of the sanction.	
Warning letters (Not recommended as a regular form of penalty to deter offending)	<ul> <li>Letters sent to offenders providing them with information regarding their offence and the penalties they face in the event of continued offending.</li> <li>Different jurisdictions use warning letters for different purposes. For example, a letter may warn offender that: <ul> <li>they have accrued a level of demerit points where they are now approaching the threshold for licence suspension and one more offence will result in loss of license;</li> <li>their next offence will result in a gaol term or a higher fine than the last offence;</li> <li>new penalties apply for the offence and that after a time-limited period (e.g. the time between any new law being passed and its full implementation) or upon subsequent offending in the time period, the new full penalty will be applied.</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	Deter offenders by informing them of the penalties they face for continued offending. Can be used to educate that a new law is soon to be enforced and that all subsequent offending will result in receipt of a penalty instead of a warning letter.	Inform offenders of additional penalties they face, of which they may have been unaware, aiming to increase specific deterrence. Warning letters can be automatically generated and implementation costs kept low. Increase procedural fairness by providing information.	Small cost to the offender (i.e. limited or no deterrence effect). To enable subsequent offenders to be identified and receive the full penalty, accurate records of who received a warning need to be maintained. Otherwise, the system will be unable to determine who has already received a warning letter – this will severely reduce any future deterrent effect.

\*In some jurisdictions, novice and probationary drivers have a reduced number of points to obtain before further sanctions are imposed. For example, the general population may have 12 demerit points allocated within a 3 year period, but a novice driver has only a total of 4 points to accumulate before licence suspension occurs<sup>19</sup>.

### NON-LEGAL CONSEQUENCES OF LEGAL PENALTIES

Penalties can also create non-legal consequences which may also act as a deterrence. For example:

- licence suspension can lead to the person's inability to participate in work, especially if driving is required to perform work tasks or travel to and from the workplace.
- an offender may experience social disapproval from peers and family members, especially in a society where behaviours such as drink driving, speeding, and drug driving are seen as socially unacceptable.
- in some jurisdictions, higher insurance premium rates may apply after traffic offences are recorded on a licence<sup>20</sup>. In fact, insurance savings may act as an incentive for compliance to the speed limit in some countries (e.g. Denmark, Sweden, and Netherlands)<sup>21</sup>.



# EFFECTIVENESS OF PENALTIES

It is difficult to isolate the effects of individual sanctions because in practice, a whole series of factors occur together to influence driver compliance and levels of offending. Evaluations of the effectiveness of penalties are relatively limited, making it difficult to recommend specific penalties for specific offences with any great certainty. Evaluation studies also tend to examine the effects of a package of sanctions rather than an individual sanction effect<sup>22</sup>.

The effectiveness of sanctions can also differ between the general driving population and traffic offenders, as well as between first time offenders and repeat offenders. Penalties are intended to modify behaviour of individual road users but they are not tailored to an individual's circumstances. Rather, legal penalties are tools to modify behaviour at the population level (i.e., same penalty across the whole population of offenders). This means that legal penalties are a broad tool for shaping individual behaviour.

The behavioural effects of a penalty may also vary from country to country because of a wide range of factors including: differences in the philosophy of crime and justice, perceived fairness of legislative processes, prevailing social norms and cultural beliefs, penalty administration processes (i.e. administrative versus judicial processes), coherence of licensing and registration systems, level and type of police enforcement, and the level at which a behaviour is considered illegal (e.g. speed limits, blood alcohol concentration [BAC] limit). Nevertheless. the effectiveness of various sanctions has been reported in evaluation studies. Table 2 provides a summary of the evidence to date.

### Table 2 - Summary of evidence

Penalty type	Overall evidence
FINES	Individual studies suggest higher fines are associated with lower violations, assuming no change in enforcement levels: speeding (1% fine increase) <sup>23</sup> , red light running (fine increases by over USD150 in different jurisdictions) <sup>24</sup> , and seat belt use (fine increase by USD15) <sup>25</sup> . These effects may also depend on the method of enforcement – for example, (though clear direct evidence is not available) it has been hypothesized that reduced offending from fine increases may be more likely when enforced by camera than by police because police adapt to stricter penalties by reducing enforcement or by adopting larger tolerance margins for violations <sup>26</sup> .
	A 2016 meta-analysis <sup>27</sup> indicated that effects of monetary fine increases are varied:
	15% decrease in violations with 50-100% fine increases;
	<ul> <li>No influence on violations with up to 50% fine increases;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>4% increase in violations with over 100% fine increases;</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Recidivism effects are mixed but the effect of a fine increase may be weaker on more severe and frequent offenders;</li> </ul>
	5-10% reduction in all crashes with fine increases (increase undefined);
	1-12% reduction in fatal crashes with fine increases (increase undefined).
	The same study cautions the causal relationship because most included studies had insufficiently controlled for confounding factors.
	Positive effects are more likely when enforcement levels are sufficiently high and sustained. Perceived fairness may also influence the effects <sup>28</sup> .
DEMERIT POINT	Individual studies report different impacts from positive <sup>29</sup> to no significant impact <sup>30</sup> .
SYSTEMS (DPS)	A 2012 meta-analysis <sup>31</sup> showed DPS result in reductions in crashes, fatalities and injuries but this effect may wear off in less than 18 months unless sufficiently high levels of enforcement are sustained.
	DPS may be more effective when: offenders are approaching the limit that triggers licence suspension <sup>32</sup> ; offenders are more reliant on their car <sup>33</sup> ;
	the system includes a broad scope of major dangerous traffic violations (speed, alcohol, red light, use of seat belts/helmet/child restraints, dangerous overtaking, priority rules, headway distance); intermediate measures (such as warning letters and rehabilitative measures) are targeted at specific groups of offenders; and the point system, including its communication and administration, is simple, transparent and fair <sup>34</sup> .

Penalty type	Overall evidence
LICENCE SANCTIONS	A 2004 meta-analysis <sup>35</sup> estimated licence sanction measures reduce crashes by 17% and violations by 21% of suspended offenders.
	Positive effects are more likely when: <sup>36</sup> the perceived probability of detection of unlicensed driving is high; licence sanction is combined with other measures such as rehabilitation programs or vehicle impoundment <sup>37</sup> ; certainty & swiftness of licence sanction are increased via administrative/immediate licence suspension where the licence is automatically suspended when certain conditions are fulfilled (e.g. 4% reduction in fatal crashes <sup>38</sup> ; 5% reduction in alcohol-related fatal crash involvement <sup>39</sup> - particularly effective for high risk behaviours such as drink-driving <sup>40</sup> ); severity is increased (e.g. longer suspension period). The effects may be limited due to certain social and economic conditions (e.g. drivers may ignore licence suspension if driving is necessary for employment) and may not outlast the period of suspension itself <sup>41</sup> .
VEHICLE SANCTIONS	Vehicle impoundment can reduce recidivism while the vehicle is in custody and to a lesser extent after the vehicle has been released. Individual studies report reduced recidivism and show they are particularly effective for serious offenders e.g. drink-driving re-offending <sup>42</sup> ; high-range speeding re-offending <sup>43</sup> ; repeat offenders - especially those who already have their licence suspended <sup>44</sup> .
	Evidence for special license plates and vehicle forfeiture is scarce <sup>45</sup> . License plate impoundment administered by the arresting officer can occur quickly and reduce both recidivism and driving with a suspended license, especially among the youngest offenders <sup>46</sup> . Immobilisation of vehicles can be less costly than impoundment or forfeiture which require storage fees <sup>47</sup> and has been found to reduce recidivism <sup>48</sup> .
ALCOHOL INTERLOCK	Alcohol interlock sanctions have been reported to reduce reoffending amongst users to a larger extent than licence suspension <sup>49</sup> . Interlocks seem most effective in reducing recidivism while they are fitted to the vehicle but appear to produce only limited post-treatment behaviour change <sup>50</sup> .
REHABILITATION PROGRAMMES	Programme contents, formats and delivery tend to vary greatly, making evaluations of effectiveness often challenging <sup>51</sup> . Evidence suggests properly performed rehabilitation courses for drink-drivers can reduce the likelihood of recidivism <sup>52</sup> . The positive effect may be exaggerated because the comparison group usually has, a-priori, a higher risk of recidivism, although evaluation studies have controlled for factors such as age, gender, and prior convictions. Positive effects are more likely when the rehabilitation course focuses on behavioural change (i.e. concrete plan of what to do when a relapse is imminent) rather than simply providing information, and is spread over at least several weeks <sup>53</sup> .
IMPRISONMENT	Imprisonment is usually combined with other penalties such as fines, thus making evaluations of the effects of imprisonment alone difficult. Overall research evidence on its effectiveness is equivocal <sup>54</sup> . While the threat of imprisonment may motivate offenders to participate in treatment programs and to comply with interlock and other sanction requirements <sup>55</sup> , mandatory jail sentence policies tend to be ineffective <sup>56</sup> .
	The lack of a general deterrence effect may be explained by the fact that the probability of apprehension is more salient than the severity of the sanction <sup>57</sup> . Imprisonment of drink-driving offenders temporarily keeps them from driving and may provide a temporary specific deterrence effect, however, once they are released, the effects may not last unless it is combined with a strong treatment program <sup>58</sup> .
WARNING LETTERS NOT RECOMMENDED	A meta-analysis including mostly older studies (1970s & 80s) suggests warning letters are associated with reductions in crashes <sup>59</sup> . Though precise evidence is unavailable it is often recommended as best practice for first time offenders and for those approaching the penalty point threshold <sup>60</sup> . Warning letters may be effective because of the threat of a tougher penalty such as licence suspension for the subsequent offence <sup>61</sup> .
	However, the deterrent effect of a warning letter relies on an accurate and robust system that records who has already received a warning. Repeated delivery of warming letters to an offender is not recommended because no deterrent effect will be created. The deterrent effect will only be present when there is an actual risk that the next offence will trigger a penalty, rather than another warning.

# HOW TO INCREASE THE EFFECTS OF PENALTIES

Experience and evidence suggest that there are multiple ways to increase the impact of penalties to bring about desired behaviour change. The ways in which penalty effectiveness can be maximised are considered from different perspectives below.

### **DETERRENCE THEORY**

- Penalties and the ways they are applied through traffic law enforcement regimes to improve road safety are based on deterrence theory principles. This theory proposes that individuals are deterred from offending if they perceive that there is a high risk of being caught if they break the law and that they also fear the perceived consequences of the offence the level of fear is said to be influenced by the individual's perceptions about the certainty, severity and swiftness of punishment<sup>62</sup>. Each of these factors can be manipulated to increase deterrence and are described below.
- 1 Certainty of punishment

Perceptions about the certainty of punishment relate to how sure a person is that they will be penalised for committing an offence if caught. When offenders are caught breaking the road rules, they must consistently bear the legal consequences - that is, for a penalty to be an effective deterrent, it must not be avoidable<sup>63</sup>. Our personal (direct) experiences, as well as knowledge about other people's experiences (also known as indirect or vicarious experiences) of receiving punishment and avoiding punishment can have an influence on learning and offending, because they can alter our perceptions about whether we will receive a penalty if we are caught breaking the law<sup>64</sup>. Some individuals may not be deterred by the threat of legal sanctions when they successfully experience avoiding punishment (known as direct/personal punishment avoidance) or when they see other people achieve similar outcomes (known as indirect/vicarious punishment avoidance)<sup>65</sup>. Actions of enforcement agencies might contribute to shaping our perceptions - the application of government sanctioned 'discretionary power' by law enforcement agents can negatively impact the certainty of punishment because penalties may not be consistently applied to offending.

An effective monetary (fine) penalty payment system, where unpaid fines are followed up until the fine is paid, ensures certainty of penalty. The certainty of penalties can also be ensured through effective liability, licensing and registration systems. For example, if the traffic offender is not the owner of the vehicle in which the offence was committed, the law can put the onus on the vehicle owner to report the offender who was driving the vehicle at the time the offence was committed. This way, the system can impose the penalty on the actual offender. Alternatively, the law could make the vehicle owner liable, even if the owner was not the offender, as well as if the owner fails to nominate who was actually in control of the vehicle at the time of the offence.

### Increase the certainty of penalties

When offenders are caught breaking the road rules, the penalty must not be avoidable.

Some individuals may not be deterred by the threat of penalties when they successfully avoid punishment and/ or observe others achieve similar outcomes.

Example strategies to increase certainty of penalty:

- Develop a robust fine payment system where unpaid fines are followed up until they are paid.
- Define the liability for the penalty when the offender is not the owner of the vehicle in which the offence was committed
- Adopt prescribed minimum penalties for the offence (e.g. mandatory licence disqualification periods) to ensure the certainty of judicially-imposed penalties.
- Establish an independent traffic court dedicated to managing traffic offences only. This can help to avoid the situation where more serious, non-traffic offences (e.g. murder, rape) may influence judges' discretionary decision-making on whether or not to apply a penalty.



### **2** Severity of punishment

Perceptions about the severity of a penalty also have an impact on the extent to which individuals are deterred from breaking the law. In principle, perceptions about the overall costs of offending must outweigh the benefits of offending for someone to be deterred from breaking the law<sup>66</sup>. Theoretically, more severe penalties are linked to reduced levels of offending. In addition, it is important that the size of a penalty reflects the riskiness or seriousness of the offence<sup>67</sup>. For example, higher fines and more severe sanctions are recommended for higher levels of alcohol impairment and for higher speeds to send the message to the community that riskier behaviours are more dangerous and will, therefore, attract more severe punishment. Some jurisdictions may have only one level of penalty for an offence type (e.g. a single monetary amount of fine for all levels of speeding). This is not recommended. Rather, it is recommended to apply the severity principle of deterrence theory, which means that there will be increased levels of penalty for increased seriousness of an offence (e.g. higher fines for 15km/h over the speed limit than up to 10km/h over the speed limit, and for 20km/h over the speed limit than 15km/h, and so on). This kind of graduated penalty regime can help inform the community about the increased risk of more serious offences. For instance, a single fine level of \$200 applied to all types of speeding offences is not recommended because it could encourage higher levels of speeding because the incentive to keep the level of speeding to a minimum is lost. A relevant example comes from Russia where speeding overall increased, and speeding by over 20 km/h did not decrease when an increase in

monetary fines for speeding over 20 km/h above the speed limit was combined with an elimination of fines for speeding less than 20 km/h above the speed limit<sup>68</sup>. An elimination of fine for speeding less than 20 km/h implies the lack of seriousness of lower-level speeding and would encourage all speeding up to 20km/h above the posted speed limit.

Research reveals that road traffic fatality rates are lower in countries with more severe penal systems<sup>69</sup>. For example, in jurisdictions with relatively good road safety performance (e.g. Netherlands<sup>70</sup>, Singapore<sup>71</sup>, Switzerland<sup>72</sup>), penalties are more severe (e.g. higher fines and/or higher demerit point penalties) for more serious offences, such as higher levels of BAC detected for drink-driving and higher levels of speeding, as well as for repeat offenders. The introduction of tougher penalties has been found to be effective in reducing offending, crashes, deaths and injuries<sup>73</sup> and higher fines may result in lower levels of offending, especially shortly after the introduction of the fine increase, at places with frequent traffic surveillance, and when combined with other penalties (e.g. demerit points)<sup>74</sup>. However, research also suggests that the relationship between severity of penalty, especially in the form of monetary fines, and behaviour change is not linear<sup>75</sup>.

A meta-analysis showed that while fine increases of between 50% and 100% have been associated with a decrease in violations, fine increases of up to 50% have no influence on violations and fine increases of more than 100% have been associated with an increase in violations<sup>76</sup>. The relationship between fine increases

and reduced offending may not be linear because increasing fines can have unintended consequences such as:

- a reduced willingness to pay the fines<sup>77</sup>
- Iowered perceived legitimacy of enforcement<sup>78</sup>
- fines being attacked as 'revenue raisers' rather than accepted as a means to improve road safety<sup>79</sup>, and
- negative impact on social equity where the amount of the fine that is consequential for a low-income earner may be affordable (and therefore not a strong deterrent) for a high-income earner)<sup>80</sup>.

Tougher penalties may not necessarily add to the deterrent effects in certain circumstances. For example, research has also found that while increases in penalties (fines, penalty points and licence sanctions combined) have led to reductions in the proportion of recidivists and overall frequency of re-offending, they do not necessarily reduce the length of time to re-offence or the number of re-offences amongst recidivists<sup>81</sup>. Expert criminologists suggest that a more severe penalty (e.g. the death penalty) is no more effective than a less severe long-term prison sentence in deterring homicide<sup>82</sup>. This kind of extreme offence comparison may not necessarily act as an appropriate analogy for driving offences. However, as mentioned earlier, it is important to have penalties for traffic offences that reflect the seriousness and risk of offending. Research has found that a 34% reduction in speed-related fatalities involving provisional drivers (i.e., not yet fully licensed) was observed following the introduction of a more severe penalty for speeding (immediate loss of licence for 3 months for any level of speeding)<sup>83</sup>. These mixed research findings highlight that changing road user behaviours is not as simple as increasing fines or other penalties because behaviour change is a complex process and is influenced by many factors.

The effectiveness of more severe penalties in reducing offending may be reduced when certain factors are at play: low perceived risk of apprehension<sup>84</sup>; police adapting to the introduction of tougher penalties by reducing their enforcement levels and not issuing as many offences/penalties; police adopting larger enforcement tolerances<sup>85</sup> and police using discretionary powers to waive or reduce the penalty amount. Research has found that judges' or jurors' decisions to convict may be influenced by the level of evidence and seriousness of the offence<sup>86</sup>, as well as the level of penalties that defendants may pay when convicted, with higher penalties leading to lower probabilities of conviction<sup>87</sup>. If increasing penalties leads to decreases in convictions, then higher penalties may potentially encourage offending, rather than deter it.

However, experience suggests that these issues can be

managed through a range of mechanisms including:

- a reliable fine payment system where unpaid fines are effectively followed up until they are paid;
- revenue from traffic offences invested in road safety interventions; and
- use of income-based fines, where the size of the monetary penalty is determined based on the income of the offender<sup>88</sup>. Matching the size of the fine to the consumer price index or another suitable index may also prevent fines from appearing to be too low over time<sup>89</sup>.

A **penalty point system** (demerit or merit) may also be beneficial to achieve optimal severity. Penalty points do not differentially impact offenders according to income levels in the way that monetary fines do. Therefore, they may be viewed as more equitable than monetary fines. Penalty severity may be increased without increasing monetary fines by combining several penalties, such as demerit/merit points and immediate licence suspension. The number of points attributed to a particular offence can also be used to reflect the seriousness of an offence, and the severity of the penalty point system may be increased through:

- Higher points assigned to the offence;
- Lower threshold before another penalty is applied;
- Longer period of time after which points for an offence are cancelled;
- More severe penalty when a threshold of points is reached.



Higher numbers/rates of deaths and injuries may be experienced during special periods, often associated with holiday times (e.g. Easter, Ramadan, Lunar New Year). In order to manage the increased traffic and exposure to crashes, some jurisdictions have introduced **double demerit point** initiatives where the penalty points for an offence during the special period are twice the size of the penalty points normally associated with the same offence during a non-special period. Despite the popularity of this measure in some countries, evaluations are limited. In New South Wales, Australia, fatalities and serious injuries were compared with corresponding holiday and non-holiday periods prior to and after the introduction of double demerit points. Evaluation results found greater reductions in fatalities during holiday periods after the demerit point initiative was introduced, compared to the corresponding periods outside the holiday periods<sup>90</sup>. This evaluation method controlled for differences in traffic volume. The results suggest that the reductions can be attributed to the double demerit initiative. A study conducted in Western Australia using a similar evaluation method showed that there was an increase in fatal crashes over the study period during non-double demerit point periods. However, that increase was found to be smaller during the holiday period after the double demerit initiative<sup>91</sup>. Taken together, these evaluations indicate that there is value in considering a double demerit point initiative, but it is important to note that holiday periods may already attract more intensive enforcement and education efforts (which could lead to reduced crashes), making it difficult to determine the contributions of increasing the severity of demerit point penalties.

The severity of penalties applied to a licence, such as **suspension** and **disqualification**, may be increased through longer duration of the suspension or disqualification period. Typically, suspension and disqualification are imposed after one or more offences (i.e., for repeat offenders). However, **immediate licence suspension/disqualification** may be imposed after one serious offence, such as high-level BAC offences and high-level speeding offences. Immediate licence suspension/disqualification may also be imposed on repeat offenders, even if the offence usually incurs a lesser penalty for first time offenders.

### Optimise the severity of penalties

Penalties are more likely to reduce traffic offences when the overall costs of offending (i.e. penalty severity) outweigh the benefits of offending.

The level of severity may be manipulated by changing the size of a monetary fine amount, the number of points, and/ or duration period of penalties including licence sanctions, vehicle impoundment, alcohol interlock use, or imprisonment.

However, more severe penalties may not necessarily reduce offending behaviours in certain circumstances, including:

- people perceive the probability of detection to be low (i.e. low perceived risk of apprehension)
- the police may adapt to the introduction of tougher penalties by reducing enforcement levels or adopting larger enforcement tolerances
  - judges and jurors adapt to the introduction of tougher penalties by deciding not to convict the defendant
- a monetary fine that is consequential for a low-income earner may be affordable and therefore not strongly deterring for a high-income earner
- when penalties, such as fine payments, are avoidable when higher fines are perceived by the community as revenue raising, rather than for the benefit of road safety.

#### **Example strat**egies to optimise the severity of a penalty:

- Adopt prescribed minimum penalties for the offence (e.g. mandatory licence disqualification periods) to ensure the severity of the penalty could not be reduced under the influence of the police, judges or jurors.
- Establish an independent traffic court dedicated to managing traffic offences only. This can help to impose appropriately severe penalties for traffic offences without subjective comparisons of traffic offences against other offences such as murder and rape. Consideration could be given to naming this a 'Road Safety Court' rather than a 'Traffic Court' in order to reinforce the role that this institution has in promoting safer road use.
- Implement variable fines where fines are determined based on the income of the offender.
- Combine different types of penalties for certain offences (e.g. fine and demerit points for speeding offences; immediate licence suspension and fine for high-level speeding offences).
- Match the amount of the fine to an index such as consumer price index to ensure fines do not remain low over time.
- Impose immediate licence suspension/disqualification after one serious offence such as high-level BAC offences and high-level speeding offences and on repeat offenders, even if the offence usually incurs a lesser penalty for first time offenders.
- Apply double penalty points for certain periods where increases in the number of deaths and injuries are typically found (e.g. major holiday periods).

# **3** Swiftness of punishment

Perceptions of the swiftness of punishment relates to the issue of a penalty being applied soon after the offence is committed. While direct evidence for swiftness of penalties is scarce<sup>92</sup>, behavioural principles indicate that penalties applied close in time to when the illegal behaviour is performed are more likely to produce stronger learning of not repeating the behaviour<sup>93</sup>. A review of drink driving sanctions also suggests that swiftness and certainty were more relevant than severity with respect to drink-driving related penalties<sup>94</sup>.

The speed (swiftness) at which a penalty can be applied can vary. For instance, immediate licence suspension at the roadside when detected by police is a very swift punishment. In practice, it can be challenging to apply penalties swiftly in the criminal justice system, especially if the offence is contested or if there are long delays in processing offences. However, administrative processes, where penalties are applied at the time of being charged, without court involvement, allow the penalty to be applied with greater swiftness than judicial processes where the application of penalty is contingent upon conviction and determination in court<sup>95</sup>. Immediate/ administrative licence suspension for high level drinkdriving and speeding offences are used in countries with relatively good road safety performance (e.g. Netherlands<sup>96</sup>, Norway<sup>97</sup>, Australia<sup>98</sup>).

### Swiftly apply penalties

Penalties applied close in time to when the illegal behaviour is performed are expected to be more likely to produce stronger learning of not repeating the behaviour.

While there are challenges to apply penalties swiftly in the criminal justice system, there are ways to increase swiftness of the delivery of penalties for traffic offences.

#### Example strategies to increase swiftness of penalty:

- For some offences (i.e., those that are less serious), legislating in a way that allows penalties to be imposed through administrative processes can improve the timeliness of a penalty. However, for more serious offences, requiring a court appearance may be more appropriate because it highlights the significance and serious of the offence.
- Implement immediate licence suspension for serious offences such as high-level speeding.
- Establish an independent traffic court dedicated to managing traffic offences only. This can avoid delays in the settlement of traffic offences in a normal court.
- Develop an efficient penalty processing system that accurately identifies the offender, and sends the violation notice to the offender in a timely manner.
- Follow up unpaid fines quickly so that full fine payment is completed in a timely manner.



### PROCEDUREAL JUSTICE & PERCEIVED FAIRNESS

Procedural justice principles suggest that public compliance with the law is driven by people's beliefs in the legitimacy of legal authorities such as the police. Legitimacy is defined as:

#### a property of an authority or institution that leads people to feel that that authority or institution is entitled to be deferred to and obeyed<sup>99</sup>.

Research suggests that citizens' experiences of fair and respectful treatment from police enhances their identification with the social group the police represent, and in turn, motivates adherence to laws governing social behaviour<sup>100</sup>. This, in turn, elicits citizen cooperation and compliance with police instructions and acceptance of police decisions (e.g., fine or sentence)<sup>101</sup>. Research also suggests that people especially need procedural fairness when information about an authority's trustworthiness is lacking<sup>102</sup>.

Procedurally just police-citizen encounters are found to have four key ingredients:

- 1. conveying genuine and trustworthy motives to serve the best interests of the public;
- **2.** treating people with dignity and respect regardless of social status and generally being courteous;
- **3.** consistently applying the law, making unbiased decisions and being transparent as to how those decisions are made; and
- **4.** giving the citizen a voice during the encounter and prior to police reaching a decision<sup>103</sup>.

Examples of procedurally unjust practice include varying the penalties based on who the offender is – that is, based on factors such as gender, race, and/or social connections<sup>104</sup>. These examples of a lack of uniformity in enforcement of the laws and regulations undermine the effectiveness of penalties.

The perceived fairness of licence sanctions can relate to their impact on an individual's capacity to earn a living. This capacity to earn a living varies between individuals and countries and it may only be a small minority that experience employment or income losses as a result of licence suspension/ disqalification. In fact, research suggests that while there was no pronounced impact on the jobs or incomes of offenders, a substantial effect was experienced by the seriously injured victims, justifying the fairness of administrative licence loss<sup>105</sup>.

### Increase procedural fairness

Legal authorities such as the police must be perceived as legitimate for people to believe that the authority has a right to dictate behaviour.

Procedurally unjust practices include police varying the size or type of penalty based on who the offender is – that is, based on factors such as gender, race, and/or social connections.

Strategies to maximise uniformity in enforcement of the laws and regulations are critical to increase community perceptions of procedural fairness.

Example strategies to increase procedural fairness:

- Develop an audit system, especially of fine payments, to ensure bribery, corruption and favouritism are avoided.
- Educate and train police officers on how to ensure procedurally just police-citizen encounters:
  - **1.** convey genuine and trustworthy motives to serve the best interests of the public;
  - **2.** treat people with dignity and respect, regardless of social status, and generally being courteous;
  - **3.** consistently apply the law without bias and with transparency as to how police decisions are made;
  - **4.** give the citizen a voice during the encounter and prior to police reaching a decision.

### SOCIAL NORMS

Social norms in a country or community can play a role in influencing the relationship between penalty and the level of compliant behaviour. Social norms refer to implicit rules or standards inferred by individuals from the behaviour they observe or expectations they assume in their social milieu and that guide their own behaviour<sup>106</sup>.

Public perceptions about an individual citizen's duties and responsibilities in society and the extent to which they are willing to give up certain elements of personal freedom to protect society can influence how the society responds to road safety laws<sup>107</sup>. For example, research suggests that when the levels of compliance with the law are compared between different countries, the differences seem to be more attributable to the differences in levels of social willingness to comply with the law than to the differences in traffic rules (e.g. how they are described, strictness)<sup>108</sup>. Research also reveals that road fatality rates (which are related to illegal traffic behaviours such as speeding and drink-driving) are higher in countries where crimes such as drug trafficking, motor vehicle thefts, homicides and robberies are more frequent<sup>109</sup>.

However, laws and regulations can also change the social norms on roads by defining what is acceptable (safe) and what is not (unsafe), and what the legal consequences are for unsafe behaviours<sup>110</sup>. Penalties can be a communication tool, influencing community perceptions about the social unacceptability of unlawful behaviours. When penalties are severe, they can have an impact on the cultural climate in which that behaviour occurs.

One challenge related to this issue is that in many cases, traffic law violations are relatively common and relatively socially acceptable, especially when compared to other crimes such as murder and rape. A relatively common offence, such as speeding, may not be viewed as serious enough for the penalty to be perceived by the community as fair. This perception might be held by the offender, the police, judges and/or the wider community. For example, a police officer may decide to reduce the penalty if they perceive it to be excessive for the traffic offence<sup>111</sup>.

### Strengthen social unacceptability of unlawful behaviours on roads

The nature and severity of penalties for road traffic offences can play a role in changing social norms about road use. They can also help to define what is acceptable (safe) and what is not (unsafe).

### Example strategies to change social norms:

- Enhance understanding among the general public and law enforcement officers (e.g. police and judges) about the importance of penalties for unsafe road use being severe enough to deter offending. In addition, sufficiently severe penalties can also represent a societal view that there are serious consequences associated with seriously and fatally injuring people in road traffic crashes which may be caused by relatively common traffic offences, such as speeding.
- Establish an independent traffic court dedicated to managing traffic offences only. This can create a norm relating to the seriousness of road traffic offences, independent of a norm relating to other crimes.



### COHERENT PENALTY ADMINISTRATION SYSTEM

The integrity of penalty administration systems is critical to ensure the principles of deterrence, procedural justice and perceived fairness are met, thereby supporting the effective application of penalties.

Licence sanctions, in particular, require a reliable driver licensing database that maintains accurate records of all individual licence holders including name, gender, date of birth, current postal and residential address, and licence status (active, suspended, disqualified, restricted, or expired). This licence status information also needs to be readily available to enforcement officers so they are able to detect unlicensed driving and apply penalties for unlicensed driving offences.

Similarly, the effective administration of vehicle sanctions and camera-detected offences depends upon a reliable vehicle registration database that maintains accurate records of all individuals owning a motorised vehicle. Necessary details include: name, gender, date of birth, current postal and residential address, and vehicle registration status (active, impounded, or expired). The vehicle registration database must be linked to the licensing database. In addition, they must both be linked to a reliable traffic offence database that maintains accurate records of all individuals who are caught offending. A properly linked database ensures penalties are imposed with certainty, swiftness, accuracy, and efficiency.

Similarly, to ensure that offences are recorded for the correct person and penalties are consistently applied to all offenders, accurate and reliable verification systems are needed between databases, police and courts. A reliable postal system or other means of delivering a traffic offence notice is also required. It is important to ensure that licence holders and vehicle owners are legally required to maintain the accuracy and currency of their address and that this is linked to the licence and registration system so that claims of lost mail are not admissible defences to avoid penalties<sup>112</sup>.

Having coherent systems for managing traffic offences are also critical for:

- establishing reliable and efficient processing of fines
- tracking and collecting unpaid fines
- tracking the status of demerit/merit points.

An audit system covering the entire administration process is also useful to ensure that bribery and corruption are avoided, and that a legitime penalty regime is implemented.

### Run a coherent penalty administration system

A coherent penalty administration system is needed to support the effective application of penalties.

Example strategies to run a coherent system:

- Reliable driver licensing database that maintains accurate records of all individuals holding licences including licence status – active, suspended, disqualified, restricted, or expired.
- Reliable vehicle registration database that maintains accurate records of all individuals owning a motorised vehicle including registration status – active, impounded, or expired.
- Reliable traffic offence database that maintains accurate records of all individuals who are caught offending including offence and penalty history.
- A well linked, independently administered, and integrated system containing licensing, vehicle registration, traffic offence data that is readily available to the police and court for verification and appropriate penalty application.
- Make licence holders and vehicle owners legally responsible for maintaining the accuracy and currency of their residential address linked to the licence and registration.
- Reliable and efficient processing system that processes fines and tracks and collects unpaid fines, as well as processes and tracks the status of demerit/merit points.
- An audit system to ensure bribery and corruption are avoided.

### **APPENDIX**

Penalty type	Description	Primary objective	Advantages	Disadvantages	Overall evidence
Fines (a predetermined and graduated monetary penalty)	A monetary sanction to be paid by the offender to a given department by a specified date. The amount of the fine should increase according to the severity of the offence (e.g. a graduated penalty means that higher amounts of speeding should attract larger monetary fines). The amount of the fine should be pre- determined, prescribed in a schedule, and publicised so that offenders know the amount, and so that police are unable to change the amount of the fine when interacting with offenders.	Punish offenders to deter future offending; Deter would-be offenders from offending	May provide revenue to directly support investment in road safety activities (e.g. enforcement). Predetermined (fixed) fine amounts reduce the potential for corruption when police interact with offenders, particularly if the fine payment is administered through a third-party government organisation (not police).	Fines issued at the police- offender interception point create opportunities for corruption if the fine amount is not pre-determined and publicised. Socio-economic status may determine how impactful this is for individuals. For example, a USD10 penalty in India for a low-income driver may be a significant penalty and likely to deter future offending. However, this same penalty for a high-income driver, or a driver in high-income country may not see this as a severe penalty and may therefore not be deterred by it. These equity issues may be addressed by setting fine amounts in proportion to income (e.g. Finland) or in consideration of weekly median wage in the country. However, they require excellent records of income for every citizen in the country, which is unlikely to be available in most LMICs.	<ul> <li>Individual studies suggest higher fines are associated with lower violations, assuming no change in enforcement levels: speeding (1% fine increase)<sup>113</sup>, red light running (fine increases by over USD150 in different jurisdictions)<sup>114</sup>, and seat belt use (fine increase by USD15)<sup>115</sup>. These effects may also depend on the method of enforcement – for example, (though clear direct evidence is not available) it has been hypothesized that reduced offending from fine increases may be more likely when enforced by camera than by police because police adapt to stricter penalties by reducing enforcement or by adopting larger tolerance margins for violations<sup>116</sup>.</li> <li>A 2016 meta-analysis<sup>117</sup> indicated that effects of monetary fine increases are varied:</li> <li>15% decrease in violations with 50-100% fine increases;</li> <li>No influence on violations with over 100% fine increases;</li> <li>Recidivism effects are mixed but the effect of a fine increase may be weaker on more severe and frequent offenders;</li> <li>5-10% reduction in all crashes with fine increases (increase undefined);</li> <li>1-12% reduction in fatal crashes with fine increases (increase undefined).</li> <li>The same study cautions the causal relationship because most included studies had insufficiently controlled for confounding factors.</li> <li>Positive effects are more likely when enforcement levels are sufficiently high and sustained. Perceived fairness may also influence the effects<sup>118</sup>.</li> </ul>

Penalty type	Description	Primary objective	Advantages	Disadvantages	Overall evidence
Demerit points	Points accumulate from 0 to a higher number if a driver commits an offence and usually remain valid for a number of years. When the total number of demerit points reach a certain threshold within a defined period (e.g. 12 or more points within a 3 year period), another penalty is imposed – usually licence suspension or disqualification.	Deter offenders from committing further offences; Deter would-be offenders from offending.	The impact of points is likely to be more equitable across different income earners than a monetary fine <sup>119</sup> . Repeated offending attracts more points providing good specific effects <sup>120</sup> . May be perceived fairer penalty and receive good public support <sup>121</sup> .	Offenders may transfer the collected points to another individual (e.g. with no or few points) <sup>122</sup> if the driver at the time of offence was not identified (e.g. in automated enforcement – however, only where the camera does not include a photo of the driver) and the penalty notice was sent to the registered vehicle owner; Reliant on an effective licence system that can follow offender's offence records and effectively apply suspension when threshold is reached.	Individual studies report different impacts from positive <sup>123</sup> to no significant impact <sup>124</sup> . A 2012 meta-analysis <sup>125</sup> showed DPS result in reductions in crashes, fatalities and injuries but this effect may wear off in less than 18 months unless sufficiently high levels of enforcement are sustained. DPS may be more effective when: offenders are approaching the limit that triggers licence suspension <sup>126</sup> ; offenders are more reliant on their car <sup>127</sup> ; the system includes a broad scope of major dangerous traffic violations (speed, alcohol, red light, use of seat belts/ helmet/child restraints, dangerous overtaking, priority rules, headway distance); intermediate measures (such as warning letters and rehabilitative measures) are targeted at specific groups of offenders; and the point system, including its communication and administration, is simple, transparent and fair <sup>128</sup> .
Merit points	Points are lost from a set number (e.g. 100) until it reaches 0 if a driver commits an offence. The credit of points usually remains valid for a number of years. When the credit drops to 0, another penalty is imposed – usually licence suspension or disqualification.	Deter offenders from committing further offences; Deter would-be offenders from offending.	The impact of points is likely to be more equitable across different income earners than a monetary fine <sup>129</sup> .	Offenders may engage in the fraudulent use of points belonging to others if the driver at the time of offence was not identified (e.g. in automated enforcement – however, only where the camera does not include a photo of the driver) and the penalty notice was sent to the registered vehicle owner; Reliant on an effective licence system that can follow offender's offence records and effectively apply suspension when threshold is reached.	

Penalty type	Description	Primary objective	Advantages	Disadvantages	Overall evidence
Licence suspension	Suspended licence holder is banned from driving at all times during the period of suspension. The licence is automatically reinstated after the suspension period.	Deter and prohibit offenders from committing further offences; Deter would-be offenders from offending.	Limits opportunities for re-offending during the term of the sanction.	Suspended drivers may continue to drive even though not legally licensed <sup>130</sup> ; Suspension may be perceived as unfair, especially in relation to its impact on an offender's capacity to earn a living if that is linked to ability to drive (especially so for offenders residing in rural/remote locations without access to public transport) Reliant on an effective licence system that keeps accurate records and communicates with the offender and enforcement agency.	A 2004 meta-analysis <sup>131</sup> estimated licence sanction measures reduce crashes by 17% and violations by 21% of suspended offenders. Positive effects are more likely when: <sup>132</sup> the perceived probability of detection of unlicensed driving is high; licence sanction is combined with other measures such as rehabilitation programs or vehicle impoundment <sup>133</sup> ; certainty & swiftness of licence sanction are increased via administrative/immediate licence suspension where the licence is automatically suspended when certain conditions are fulfilled (e.g. 4% reduction in fatal crashes <sup>134</sup> ; 5% reduction in alcohol-related fatal crash involvement <sup>135</sup> - particularly effective for high risk behaviours such as drink-driving <sup>136</sup> ); severity is increased (e.g. longer suspension period). The effects may be limited due to certain social and economic conditions (e.g. drivers may ignore licence suspension if driving is necessary for employment) and may not outlast the period of suspension itself <sup>137</sup> .
Immediate licence suspension/ Roadside licence suspension	Licence is suspended and confiscated on the spot by police for a serious offence (e.g. high-level speeding, drink driving, driving offence causing death and serious injury) generally for a defined period (e.g. 28 days)	Deter and prohibit offenders from committing further serious offences; Deter would-be offenders from committing serious offences.	In contrast to traditional suspension (above), the deterrent effect of immediate/roadside suspension is swift – one of the critical elements of increasing deterrence.	Police officer can apply the immediate suspension which cannot be applied to camera-detected offences. Requires a system where the immediate suspension of driving licence is recorded immediately so that authorities are aware of the suspension.	

Penalty type	Description	Primary objective	Advantages	Disadvantages	Overall evidence
Licence disqualification/ revocation	Disqualified/revoked licence holder is banned from driving at all times during the period of disqualification. The licence is reinstated only when the driver reapplies for the licence at the end of the disqualification period. However, a driver can never drive again when lifetime disqualification applies.	Deter and prohibit offenders from committing further offences; Deter would-be offenders from offending.	Limits opportunities for re-offending during the term of the sanction.	Disqualified drivers may continue to drive <sup>138</sup> ; Reliant on an effective licence system that keeps good records and communicates with the offender and enforcement officers. Requires a system where court- imposed disqualifications are recorded in the licence system in a timely manner.	
Licence restriction	Licence holder is banned from driving during the period of restriction except for certain purposes (e.g. to drive to and from employment or medical treatment) that may be determined by court or other authority. Offenders are usually required to demonstrate that they would suffer unnecessarily from being prohibited from driving in order to be granted a restricted licence.	Deter and prohibit offenders from committing further offences; Deter would-be offenders from offending.	Reduces opportunities for re-offending during the term of the sanction and may increase caution and vigilance when driving.	Widespread use of restricted licences may undermine both specific and general deterrence because the offenders do not experience the full impact of punishment <sup>139</sup> ; Court decisions on who is granted restricted versus full licence suspension may also create social inequity; Reliant on an effective licence system that keeps good records and communicates with the offender and enforcement officers. Licence restriction provisions must appear and be obvious on the driver licence. If not, police officers may miss seeing the restriction when intercepting the driver on subsequent occasions.	

Penalty type	Description	Primary objective	Advantages	Disadvantages	Overall evidence
Vehicle sanctions	Vehicle is confiscated from the offender. Impounded/forfeited vehicles may be returned after the sanction period with payment of a fee. Alternatively, the licence plate may be seized, a sticker attached to the licence plate to show anyone but the offender is permitted to drive the vehicle, vehicle registration withdrawn, or vehicle immobilised on the offender's property with a "boot" or "club" without the offender having to forfeit the vehicle for impoundment. Usually applied to serious offenders for whom other penalties were unsuccessful in stopping re-offending.	Prohibit offenders from committing further offences; Deter would-be offenders from offending.	Removes opportunities for re- offending during the term of the sanction; Drivers may find it more difficult to continue driving without a vehicle than without a licence. Evidence suggests that vehicle impoundment increases licence suspension compliance <sup>140</sup> .	Not directly punitive for offender if s/ he is not the owner of the vehicle; If the impounded vehicle belongs to someone other than the offender, the vehicle may be returned under certain conditions; Offender may have access to another vehicle to use. Issues can arise when the value of the vehicle is less than the total cost of impoundment and the offender chooses not to collect their vehicle in lieu of fee payment. Additionally, vehicle sanctions may be perceived as unfair, especially for offenders living in rural/remote locations with little or no access to public transport. Conversely, when the cost of the vehicle is high, offenders may flee the scene at speed, creating additional risks <sup>17</sup> .	Vehicle impoundment can reduce recidivism while the vehicle is in custody and to a lesser extent after the vehicle has been released. Individual studies report reduced recidivism and show they are particularly effective for serious offenders e.g. drink-driving re-offending <sup>142</sup> ; high-range speeding re- offending <sup>143</sup> ; repeat offenders - especially those who already have their licence suspended <sup>144</sup> . Evidence for special license plates and vehicle forfeiture is scarce <sup>145</sup> . License plate impoundment administered by the arresting officer can occur quickly and reduce both recidivism and driving with a suspended license, especially among the youngest offenders <sup>146</sup> . Immobilisation of vehicles can be less costly than impoundment or forfeiture which require storage fees <sup>147</sup> and has been found to reduce recidivism <sup>148</sup> .
Alcohol interlock	Technology fitted to vehicle so that it cannot be started until a pre-set breath test is passed. Primarily designed to modify the behaviour of drink driving offenders, especially high range BAC and/or repeat offenders, rather than to perform a general deterrent function.	Prohibit offenders from committing further alcohol-related offences.	Removes opportunities for alcohol-related re- offending during the term of the sanction in the vehicle that has the interlock fitted	Interlock can only be applied to offenders who own a vehicle. Access to interlock equipment and maintenance may be limited in rural locations. Recording the Interlock Condition on the driver licence must be obvious otherwise it may be overlooked by intercepting police. In addition, the Interlock Condition should transfer between jurisdictions so that offender cannot obtain a non-interlock licence in another jurisdiction during the term of the penalty.	Alcohol-interlock measure has been reported to reduce reoffending amongst users to a larger extent than licence suspension <sup>149</sup> . Interlocks seem most effective in reducing recidivism while they are fitted to the vehicle but appear to produce only limited post-treatment behaviour change <sup>150</sup> .

Penalty type	Description	Primary objective	Advantages	Disadvantages	Overall evidence
Remedial programs (treatment/ rehabilitation)	Primarily designed to modify the behaviour of offenders, especially drink driving offenders, rather than to perform a general deterrent function. The programs may be educational focused on knowledge and/or psychological focused on behavioural change and run over weeks.	Reform offenders	Remedial programs may more effectively address the factors contributing to alcohol- and drug- specific offences.	Good assessment procedures are required to match offenders to the most appropriate interventions <sup>151</sup> ; Cost-effectiveness of different approaches are unclear. Access in rural and remote settings may be limited.	Programme contents, formats and delivery tend to vary greatly, making evaluations of effectiveness often challenging <sup>152</sup> . Evidence suggests properly performed rehabilitation courses for drink-drivers can reduce the likelihood of recidivism <sup>153</sup> . The positive effect may be exaggerated because the comparison group usually has, a-priori, a higher risk of recidivism, although evaluation studies have controlled for factors such as age, gender, and prior convictions. Positive effects are more likely when the rehabilitation course focuses on behavioural change (i.e. concrete plan of what to do when a relapse is imminent) rather than simply providing information, and is spread over at least several weeks <sup>154</sup> .
Imprisonment	Offenders are imprisoned for some (serious) traffic offences such as drink- driving, disqualified driving, or dangerous driving causing death.	Prohibit offenders from committing further offences. Deter would-be offenders from offending.	Highlights to the community the seriousness of the offence. Removes opportunities for re- offending during the term of the sanction.	More costly to implement than other penalties.	Imprisonment is usually combined with other penalties such as fines, thus making evaluations of the effects of imprisonment alone difficult. Overall research evidence on its effectiveness is equivocal <sup>155</sup> . While the threat of imprisonment may motivate offenders to participate in treatment programs and to comply with interlock and other sanction requirements <sup>156</sup> , mandatory jail sentence policies tend to be ineffective <sup>157</sup> . The lack of a general deterrence effect may be explained by the fact that the probability of apprehension is more salient than the severity of the sanction <sup>158</sup> . Imprisonment of drink-driving offenders temporarily keeps them from driving and may provide a temporary specific deterrence effect, however, once they are released, the effects may not last unless it is combined with a strong treatment program <sup>159</sup> .

Penalty type	Description	Primary objective	Advantages	Disadvantages	Overall evidence
Warning letters (Not recommended as a regular form of penalty to deter offending)	<ul> <li>Letters sent to offenders providing them with information regarding their offence and the penalties they face in the event of continued offending.</li> <li>Different jurisdictions use warning letters for different purposes. For example, a letter may warn offender that: <ul> <li>they have accrued a level of demerit points where they are now approaching the threshold for licence suspension and one more offence will result in loss of license;</li> <li>their next offence will result in a gaol term or a higher fine than the last offence;</li> <li>new penalties apply for the offence and that after a time-limited period (e.g. the time between any new law being passed and its full implementation) or upon subsequent offending in the time period, the new full penalty will be applied.</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	Deter offenders by informing them of the penalties they face for continued offending. Can be used to educate that a new law is soon to be enforced and that all subsequent offending will result in receipt of a penalty instead of a warning letter.	Inform offenders of additional penalties they face, of which they may have been unaware, aiming to increase specific deterrence. Warning letters can be automatically generated and implementation costs kept low. Increase procedural fairness by providing information.	Small cost to the offender (i.e. limited or no deterrence effect). To enable subsequent offenders to be identified and receive the full penalty, accurate records of who received a warning need to be maintained. Otherwise, the system will be unable to determine who has already received a warning letter – this will severely reduce any future deterrent effect.	A meta-analysis including mostly older studies (1970s & 80s) suggests warning letters are associated with reductions in crashes <sup>160</sup> . Though precise evidence is unavailable it is often recommended as best practice for first time offenders and for those approaching the penalty point threshold <sup>161</sup> . Warning letters may be effective because of the threat of a tougher penalty such as licence suspension for the subsequent offence <sup>162</sup> . However, the deterrent effect of a warning letter relies on an accurate and robust system that records who has already received a warning. Repeated delivery of warming letters to an offender is not recommended because no deterrent effect will be created. The deterrent effect will only be present when there is an actual risk that the next offence will trigger a penalty, rather than another warning.

## REFERENCES

<sup>1</sup> Gibbs, J. P. (1979). Assessing the deterrence doctrine: A challenge for the social and behavioral sciences. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 22(6), 653-677.

<sup>2</sup> Homel R. (1988). *Policing and Punishing the Drinking Driver: A Study of Specific and General Deterrence*. Springer-Verlag: New York.

<sup>3</sup> Elvik, R. (2016). Association between increase in fixed penalties and road safety outcomes: A metaanalysis. *Accident Analysis & Prevention, 92*, 202-210.

<sup>4</sup> Combined summary Table is available in Appendix.

<sup>5</sup> Williams A., Weinberg K. and Fields M. (1991). 'The Effectiveness of Administrative License Suspension Laws', *Alcohol, Drugs and Driving*, Vol. 7, No 1, 55-62.

<sup>6</sup> Homel R. (1988). *Policing and Punishing the Drinking Driver: A Study of Specific and General Deterrence*. (Springer-Verlag: New York.)

<sup>7</sup> See overall evidence in Table 2.

<sup>8</sup> ETSC (European Transport Safety Council) (2008). Combatting speed through Penalty Point Systems. Speed Fact Sheet, 2, June. Brussels, Belgium.

<sup>9</sup> Goldenbeld, C., Reurings, M., Van Norden, Y., & Stipdonk, H. (2013). Crash Involvement of Motor Vehicles in Relationship to the Number and Severity of Traffic Offenses. An Exploratory Analysis of Dutch Traffic Offenses and Crash Data. *Traffic Injury Prevention, 14*(6), 584–591. doi:10.1080/15 389588.2012.743125

<sup>10</sup> European Transport Safety Council. (2012). Demerit point system saves lives: Results from the EU funded research project BESTPOINT. ETSC. Retrieved from www.etsc.eu/ documents/PR\_Bestpoint.pdf

<sup>11</sup> Fleiter, JJ. and Watson, BC. and Lennon, AJ. and King, MJ. and Shi, K (2009) *Speeding in Australia and China: a comparison of the influence of legal sanctions and enforcement practices on car drivers*. In: 2009 Australasian Road Safety Research, Policing and Education Conference: Smarter, Safer Directions, 10-12 November 2009, Sydney Convention and Exhibition Centre, Sydney, New South Wales.

Schagen, I. van & Machata, K. (2012). *The BestPoint Handbook: Getting the best out of a Demerit Point System. Deliverable 3 of the EC project.* BestPoint. Vienna: Kuratorium für Verkehrssicherheit KfV.

<sup>12</sup> ETSC (European Transport Safety Council) (2008). Combatting speed through Penalty Point Systems. Speed Fact Sheet, 2, June. Brussels, Belgium.

#### <sup>13</sup> See examples:

Nicholls J.L. and Ross H.L. (1990). 'The Effectiveness of Legal Sanctions in Dealing with Drinking Drivers', *Alcohol, Drugs and Driving*, Vol. 6, No. 2, 33-60, 1990.

Mirrlees-Black C. (1993). *Disqualification from Driving: and Effective Penalty?*, Paper 74, Research and Planning Unit, Home Office, London.

Fleiter, J. J., Lennon, A., & Watson, B. (2007). *Choosing not to speed: A qualitative exploration of differences in perceptions about speed limit compliance and related issues*. Paper presented at the Australasian Road Safety Research Policing Education Conference, Melbourne, 17-19 October.

Lenton, S., Fetherston, J., & Cercarelli, R. (2010). Recidivist drink drivers' self-reported reasons for driving whilst unlicensed – A qualitative study. *Accident Analysis and Prevention*, *42*, 637-644.

McCartt, A. T., Geary, L. L., & Nissen, W. J. (2002). *Observational study of the extent of driving while suspended for alcohol-impaired driving* (Report No. DOT HS 809 491). Washington, DC: National Highway Traffic Safety Administration. Retrieved from http://one.nhtsa.gov/people/ injury/research/observation\_study/index.htm

#### <sup>14</sup> See examples:

Nicholls J.L. and Ross H.L. (1990). 'The Effectiveness of Legal Sanctions in Dealing with Drinking Drivers', *Alcohol, Drugs and Driving*, Vol. 6, No. 2, 33-60, 1990.

Mirrlees-Black C. (1993). *Disqualification from Driving: and Effective Penalty?*, Paper 74, Research and Planning Unit, Home Office, London.

<sup>15</sup> Watson B. and Siskind V. (1997). 'The effectiveness of licence restriction for drink drivers', *1997Road Safety Research and Enforcement Conference*, Hobart, 9-12 November 1997.

<sup>16</sup> Byrne, P. A., Ma, T., & Elzohairy, Y. (2016). Vehicle impoundments improve drinking and driving licence suspension outcomes: Large-scale evidence from Ontario. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, *95*, 125-131.

<sup>17</sup> Leal, N., Watson, B., Armstrong, K., & King, M (2009) "There's no way in hell I would pull up": Deterrent and other effects of vehicle impoundment laws for hooning. In: Proceedings of the 2009 Australasian Road Safety Research, Policing and Education Conference and the 2009 Intelligence Speed Adaptation (ISA) Conference, 10-12 November 2009, Sydney Convention and Exhibition Centre, Sydney.

<sup>18</sup> Filtness, A., Sheehan, M., Fleiter, J., Armstrong, K., & Freeman, J (2015) *Options for rehabilitation in interlock programs [Austroads Project No. SS1755 / Austroads Publication No. AP-R484-15]*. Austroads, Australia.

#### <sup>19</sup> See examples:

https://www.qld.gov.au/transport/safety/fines/demerit/ learner

https://www.rms.nsw.gov.au/roads/safety-rules/demeritsoffences/demerit-points/how-it-works.html

#### <sup>20</sup> See example:

Bolderdijk, J. W., Knockaert, J., Steg, E., & Verhoef, E. T. (2011). Effects of Pay-As-You-Drive vehicle insurance on young drivers' speed choice: Results of a Dutch field experiment. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, *43*(3), 1181-1186.

<sup>21</sup> Bolderdijk, J. W., Knockaert, J., Steg, E., & Verhoef, E. T. (2011). Effects of Pay-As-You-Drive vehicle insurance on young drivers' speed choice: Results of a Dutch field experiment. *Accident Analysis & Prevention, 43*(3), 1181-1186. Hultkrantz, L., & Lindberg, G. (2011). Pay-as-you-speed An Economic Field Experiment. *Journal of Transport Economics and Policy (JTEP), 45*(3), 415-436.

Lahrmann, H., Agerholm, N., Tradisauskas, N., Berthelsen, K. K., & Harms, L. (2012). Pay as You Speed, ISA with incentives for not speeding: Results and interpretation of speed data. *Accident Analysis & Prevention, 48*, 17-28.

Stigson, H., Hagberg, J., Kullgren, A., & Krafft, M. (2014). A one year pay-as-you-speed trial with economic incentives for not speeding. *Traffic Inj Prev*, *15*(6), 612-618.

<sup>22</sup> Elvik, R. (2016). Association between increase in fixed penalties and road safety outcomes: A meta-analysis. Accident *Analysis & Prevention, 92*, 202-210.

<sup>23</sup> Moolenaar, D. E. (2014). Motorist's response to an increase in traffic fines. *Journal of criminology, 2014*.

<sup>24</sup> Bar-Ilan, A., & Sacerdote, B. (2001). *The response to fines and probability of detection in a series of experiments (No. w8638)*. National Bureau of Economic Research.

<sup>25</sup> Elvik, R. & Christensen, P. (2007). The deterrent effect of increasing fixed penalties for traffic offences: The Norwegian experience. *Journal of Safety Research, 38*, 689–695.

<sup>26</sup> Elvik, R. & Christensen, P. (2007). The deterrent effect of increasing fixed penalties for traffic offences: The Norwegian experience. *Journal of Safety Research, 38*, 689–695.

<sup>27</sup> Elvik, R. (2016). Association between increase in fixed penalties and road safety outcomes: A metaanalysis. Accident *Analysis & Prevention, 92*, 202-210.

<sup>28</sup> Yagil, D. (1998). Instrumental and normative motives for compliance with traffic laws among young and older drivers. *Accident Analysis & Prevention, 30*(4), 417-424.

<sup>29</sup> Zambon, F., Fedeli, U., Visentin, C., Marchesan, M., Avossa, F., Brocco, S., & Spolaore, P. (2007). Evidence-based policy on road safety: the effect of the demerit points system on seat belt use and health outcomes. *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health, 61*(10), 877-881.

De Paola, M., Scoppa, V., & Falcone, M. (2013). The deterrent effects of the penalty points system for driving offences: a regression discontinuity approach. *Empirical Economics*, *45*(2), 965-985.

Novoa, A. M., Pérez, K., Santamariña-Rubio, E., Marí-Dell'Olmo, M., Ferrando, J., Peiró, R., ... & Borrell, C. (2010). Impact of the penalty points system on road traffic injuries in Spain: A time-series study. *American journal of public health*, *100*(11), 2220-2227.

Castillo-Manzano, J. I., Castro-Nuno, M., & Pedregal, D. J. (2010). An econometric analysis of the effects of the penalty points system driver's license in Spain. *Accident Analysis & Prevention, 42*(4), 1310-1319.

<sup>30</sup> Mehmood, A. (2010). Evaluating impact of demerit points system on speeding behavior of drivers. *European Transport Research Review, 2*(1), 25-30.

Hussain, O. T., Nayyar, M. S., Brady, F. A., Beirne, J. C., & Stassen, L. F. A. (2006). Speeding and maxillofacial injuries: impact of the introduction of penalty points for speeding offences. *British Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery*, *44*(1), 15-19.

<sup>31</sup> Castillo-Manzano, J. I., & Castro-Nuño, M. (2012). Driving licenses based on points systems: Efficient road safety strategy or latest fashion in global transport policy? A worldwide meta-analysis. *Transport Policy, 21*, 191-201.

<sup>32</sup> Klipp, S., Machata, K., & van Schagen, I. (2013). The EU BestPoint project: Getting the best out of a demerit point system. *In Proceedings of the 2013 Australasian Road Safety Research, Policing & Education Conference 28th - 30th August.* Brisbane, QLD. Retrieved from http://acrs.org.au/files/ arsrpe/Paper%2024%20-%20Klipp%20-%20Traffic%20 Leg%20&%20Enforcement.pdf

Basili, M., Belloc, F., & Nicita, A. (2015). Group attitude and hybrid sanctions: Micro-econometric evidence from traffic law. *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice*, 78, 325–336. doi:10.1016/j.tra.2015.05.019

<sup>33</sup> Abay, K. A. (2014). Monetary or Non-Monetary Instruments for Safe Driving: Panel Data Evidence on the Effect of Demerit-Point–System in Denmark. *Econ. ku. dk*.

<sup>34</sup> Goldenbeld, Ch (2017). Demerit point system, European Road Safety Decision Support Systems, developed **by the H2020** project SafetyCube. Retrieved from www.roadsafetydss.eu on 22/12/20

<sup>35</sup> Masten, S.V. & Peck, R.C. (2004). Problem driver remediation; A meta-analysis of the driver improvement literature. Journal of Safety Research, 35, 403-425.

<sup>36</sup> Goldenbeld, Ch (2017), Licence suspension, European Road Safety Decision Support System, developed by the H2020 project SafetyCube. Retrieved from www.roadsafetydss.eu on 04/01/2021

<sup>37</sup> Watson, A., Kaye, S., Fleiter, J, & Freeman, J.E. (2020) Effectiveness of vehicle impoundment for high-range speeding offences in Victoria, Australia. *Accident Analysis and Prevention, 145*, Article number: 105690.

<sup>38</sup> Asbridge, M., Mann, R.E., Smart, R.G., Stoduto, G., Beirness, D., Lamble, R., & Vingilis, E. (2009). The effects of Ontario's administrative driver's licence suspension law on total driver fatalities: A multiple time series analysis. Drugs: Education, Prevention and Policy, 16, 140-151.

<sup>39</sup> Wagenaar, A. C., & Maldonado-Molina, M. M. (2007). Effects of drivers' license suspension policies on alcohol-related crash involvement: Long-term follow-up in forty-six states. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, *31*, 1399-1406.

<sup>40</sup> Soole, D., Haworth, N.L., & Watson, B.C. (2008) Immediate licence suspension to deter high-risk behaviours. In *High risk road users - motivating behaviour change: what works and what doesn't work? National Conference of the Australasian College of Road Safety and the Travelsafe Committee of the Queensland Parliament*, 18-19 September 2008, Brisbane

Byrne, P. A., Ma, T., Mann, R. E., & Elzohairy, Y. (2016). Evaluation of the general deterrence capacity of recently implemented (2009–2010) low and zero BAC requirements for drivers in Ontario. *Accident Analysis & Prevention, 88*, 56-67.

<sup>41</sup> Goldenbeld, Ch (2017), Licence suspension, European Road Safety Decision Support System, developed by the H2020 project SafetyCube. Retrieved from www.roadsafetydss.eu on 04/01/2021 <sup>42</sup> Voas, R. B., & DeYoung, D. J. (2002). Vehicle action: effective policy for controlling drunk and other high-risk drivers? *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, *34*(3), 263-270.

Voas, R. B., Fell, J. C., McKnight, A. S., & Sweedler, B. M. (2004). Controlling impaired driving through vehicle programs: An overview. *Traffic injury prevention*, *5*(3), 292-298.

<sup>43</sup> Watson, A., Kaye, S., Fleiter, J., & Freeman, J.E. (2020). Effectiveness of vehicle impoundment for high-range speeding offences in Victoria, Australia. *Accident Analysis and Prevention, 145*, Article number: 105690.

<sup>44</sup> DeYoung, D. J. (1999). An evaluation of the specific deterrent effects of vehicle impoundment on suspended, revoked, and unlicensed drivers in California. *Accident Analysis & Prevention, 31*(1-2), 45-53.

<sup>45</sup> NHTSA. (2008e). *Vehicle and license plate sanctions* (Traffic Safety Facts --Laws. Report No. DOT HS 810 880). Washington, DC: Author. Retrieved from www.nhtsa.gov/ DOT/NHTSA/Communication%20&%20Consumer%20 Information/Articles/Associated%20Files/810880.pdf

Rogers, A. (1995). Effects of Minnesota's license plate impoundment law on recidivism of multiple DWI violators. *Journal of Safety Research, 26*, 125-126.

<sup>46</sup> Leaf, W. A., & Preusser, D. F. (2011). Evaluation of Minnesota's vehicle plate impoundment law for impaired drivers (Report No. DOT HS 811 351). Washington, DC: National Highway Traffic Safety Administration. Retrieved from www.nhtsa.gov/staticfiles/nti/pdf/811351.pdf

<sup>47</sup> National Transportation Safety Board. (2000). *Actions to reduce fatalities, injuries, and crashes involving the hard core drinking driver* (NTSB/SR-00/01). http://permanent.access.gpo.gov/websites/www.ntsb.gov/publictn/2000/SR0001.pdf

<sup>48</sup> Voas, R. B., Tippetts, S., & Taylor, E. (1998). Temporary Vehicle Impoundment in Ohio: A Replication and Confirmation. *Accident Analysis and Prevention, 30*, 651-655.

<sup>49</sup> Bax, Ch.A. (ed.), Kärki, O., Evers, C., Bernhoft, I.M. & Mathijssen, R. (2001). Alcohol interlock implementation in the European Union; feasibility study; Final report of the European research project. D-2001-20. Leidschendam: Institute for Road Safety Research SWOV.

<sup>50</sup> See examples:

Voas, R. B., Fell, J. C., McKnight, A. S., & Sweedler, B. M. (2004). Controlling impaired driving through vehicle programs: An overview. *Traffic injury prevention*, *5*(3), 292-298.

Siegfried, N., & Parry, C. (2019). Do alcohol control policies work? An umbrella review and quality assessment of systematic reviews of alcohol control interventions (2006–2017). *PloS one*, 14(4), e0214865.

McCartt, A. T., Leaf, W. A., & Farmer, C. M. (2018). Effects of Washington State's alcohol ignition interlock laws on DUI recidivism: An update. *Traffic injury prevention*, *19*(7), 665-674.

Voas, R. B., Tippetts, A. S., Bergen, G., Grosz, M., & Marques, P. (2016). Mandating treatment based on interlock performance: evidence for effectiveness. *Alcoholism: clinical and experimental research, 40*(9), 1953-1960.

Baker E.A. and Beck K.H. (1991). 'Ignition Interlocks for DWI Offenders - A Useful Tool?', *Alcohol, Drugs and Driving*, Vol. 7, No 2, 107-115.

Morse B.J. and Elliott D.S. (1992). 'Effects of Ignition Interlock Devices on DUI Recidivism: Findings From a Longitudinal Study in Hamilton County, Ohio', *Crime & Delinquency*, Vol.38, No.2, 131-157.

<sup>51</sup> Mann, R. E., Leigh, G., Vingilis, E. R., & De Genova, K. (1983). A critical review on the effectiveness of drinking-driving rehabilitation programmes. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, *15*(6), 441-461.

#### <sup>52</sup> See examples:

Slootmans, F., Martensen, H., Kluppels, L., Meesmann, U (2017), Rehabilitation courses as alternative measure for drink-driving offenders, European Road Safety Decision Support System, developed by the H2020 project SafetyCube. Retrieved from www.roadsafety-dss.eu on 04/01/2021

Watson, B. (1998) The Effectiveness of Drink Driving Licence Actions, Remedial Programs and Vehicle-based Sanctions. In *Proceedings from the 19th ARRB Conference*. ARRB Transport Research Ltd,, Vermount South, Victoria, pp. 66-87.

<sup>53</sup> Slootmans, F., Martensen, H., Kluppels, L., Meesmann, U. (2017). Rehabilitation courses as alternative measure for drink-driving offenders, European Road Safety Decision Support System, developed by the H2020 project SafetyCube. Retrieved from www.roadsafety-dss.eu on 04/01/2021

<sup>54</sup> National Transportation Safety Board. (2000). *Actions to reduce fatalities, injuries, and crashes involving the hard core drinking driver* (NTSB/SR-00/01). Retrieved from the NTSB website: www.ntsb.gov/publictn/2000/sr0001.pdf

Wagenaar, A. C., Maldonado-Molina, M. M., Erickson, D. J., Ma, L., Tobler, A. L., & Komro, K. A. (2007). General deterrence effects of U.S. statutory DUI fine and jail penalties: Long-term follow-up in 32 states. Accident Analysis and Prevention, 39, 982-994.

Spelman, W. 2000, 'What Recent Studies Do (and Don't) Tell Us about Imprisonment and Crime', in M. Tonry (ed), *Crime and Justice: A Review of Research, vol. 27*, University of Chicago Press, Chicago.

<sup>55</sup> Voas, R. B., & Lacey, J. H. (2011). *Alcohol and highway safety* 2006: A review of the state of knowledge (Report No. DOT HS 811 374). Washington, DC: National Highway Traffic Safety Administration. Retrieved from www.nhtsa.gov/staticfiles/ nti/pdf/811374.pdf

<sup>56</sup> Wagenaar, A. C., Zobek, T. S., Williams, G. D., & Hingson, R. (2000). *Effects of DWI control efforts: A systematic review of the literature from 1960-1991*. Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota School of Public Health.

<sup>57</sup> Ross, H. L., & Voas, R. B. (1990). The new Philadelphia story: The effects of severe punishment for drunk driving. Law and Policy, 12, 51-79.

<sup>58</sup> Kunitz, S. J., Woodall, W. G., Zhao, H., Wheeler, D. R., Lillis, R., & Rogers, E. (2002). Rearrest rates after incarceration for DWI: A comparative study in a southwestern U.S. county. American Journal of Public Health, 92, 1826-1831.

<sup>59</sup> Zaidel, D. M. (2002). The impact of enforcement on accidents. *The 'Escape'' Project (Enhanced Safety Coming from Appropriate Police Enforcement) Deliverable*, *3*, 1-59.

#### <sup>60</sup> See example:

Schagen, I. van & Machata, K. (2012). *The BestPoint Handbook: Getting the best out of a Demerit Point System. Deliverable 3 of the EC project*. BestPoint. Vienna: Kuratorium für Verkehrssicherheit KfV.

<sup>61</sup> Masten, S. V., & Peck, R. C. (2004). Problem driver remediation: a meta-analysis of the driver improvement literature. *Journal of safety Research*, 35(4), 403-425.

<sup>62</sup> Gibbs, J. P. (1979). Assessing the deterrence doctrine: A challenge for the social and behavioral sciences. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 22(6), 653-677.

#### <sup>63</sup> See examples:

Henstridge, J., Homel, R. & Mackay, P. 1997, *The long term effects of RBT in 4 Australian states: A time series analysis,* Federal Office Of Road Safety, Canberra, ACT.

Ross, H. L. 1984, *Deterring the Drinking Driver: Legal Policy and Social Control (revised and updated edition)*, Lexington Books, Lexington.

Sherman, L. W. 1990, 'Police Crackdowns: Initial and Residual Deterrence', in M. Tonry & N. Morris (eds), *Crime and Justice: A Review of Research*, vol. 12, University of Chicago Press, Chicago, pp. 1-48.

Voas, R. B. & Hause, J.M. 1987, 'Deterring the drinking driver: The Stockton experience', *Accident, Analysis and Prevention*, vol. 19, no. 2, pp. 81-90.

Voas, R. B., Holder, H. & Gruenewald, P. 1997, 'The effect of drinking and driving interventions on alcohol-involved traffic crashes within a comprehensive community trial', *Addiction*, vol. 92, supp. 2, pp. S221-S236.

<sup>64</sup> Paternoster R, Piquero A. Reconceptualizing deterrence: an empirical test of personal and vicarious experiences. J Res Crime & Delinq 1995; 32:251–86

#### 65 See examples:

Apel, R. (2013). Sanctions, perceptions, and crime: Implications for criminal deterrence. *Journal of quantitative criminology*, *29*(1), 67-101.

Fleiter, J. J., & Watson, B. C. (2006). The speed paradox: the misalignment between driver attitudes and speeding behaviour. *Journal of the Australasian College of Road Safety*, *17*(2), 23-30.

#### <sup>66</sup> See examples:

Becker, G. S. 1968, 'Crime and punishment: An economic approach', *Journal of Political Economy*, vol. 76, pp. 169-217.

Gibbs, J. P. 1975, *Crime, Punishment and Deterrence,* Elsevier Scientific Publishing Company, New York.

Zimring, F. E. & Hawkins, G.J. 1973, *Deterrence: The Legal Threat in Crime Control*, University of Chicago Press, Chicago.

Bourgeon, J. M., & Picard, P. (2007). Point-record driving licence and road safety: an economic approach. *Journal of Public Economics*, *91*(1-2), 235-258.

<sup>67</sup> Andreoni, J. (1991). Reasonable doubt and the optimal magnitude of fines: should the penalty fit the crime?. *The RAND Journal of Economics*, 385-395.

<sup>68</sup> Bhalla, K., Paichadze, N., Gupta, S., Kliavin, V., Gritsenko, E., Bishai, D., & Hyder, A. A. (2015). Rapid assessment of road safety policy change: relaxation of the national speed enforcement law in Russia leads to large increases in the prevalence of speeding. *Injury prevention, 21*(1), 53-56.

<sup>69</sup> Castillo-Manzano, J. I., Castro-Nuño, M., & Fageda, X. (2015). Are traffic violators criminals? Searching for answers in the experiences of European countries. *Transport policy*, *38*, 86-94.

<sup>70</sup> https://www.swov.nl/en/facts-figures/factsheet/ progressive-penalty-systems-traffic

<sup>71</sup> https://www.police.gov.sg/resources/traffic-matters/ already-have-a-licence/dips

#### <sup>72</sup> https://www.ch.ch/en/driving-over-speed-limit/

#### <sup>73</sup> See examples:

de Figueiredo, L. F. P., Rasslan, S., Bruscagin, V., Cruz Jr, R., & e Silva, M. R. (2001). Increases in fines and driver licence withdrawal have effectively reduced immediate deaths from trauma on Brazilian roads: first-year report on the new traffic code. *Injury*, *32*(2), 91-94.

Briscoe, S. (2004). Impact of Increased Drink-driving Penalties on Recidivism Rates in NSW, The. *BOCSAR NSW Alcohol Studies Bulletins*, 11.

Novoa, A. M., Pérez, K., Santamariña-Rubio, E., & Borrell, C. (2011). Effect on road traffic injuries of criminalizing road traffic offences: a time-series study. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, *89*, 422-431.

Montag, J. (2014). A radical change in traffic law: effects on fatalities in the Czech Republic. *Journal of Public Health*, *36*(4), 539-545.

#### <sup>74</sup> See examples:

Elvik, R. & Christensen, P. (2007). The deterrent effect of increasing fixed penalties for traffic offences: The Norwegian experience. *Journal of Safety Research, 38*, 689–695.

Nichols, J.L., Tippetts, A.S., Fell, J.C., Auld-Owens, A., et al. (2010). Strategies to increase seat belt use: An analysis of levels of fines and the type of law. DOT HS 811 413. Washington D.C.: Department of Transportation DOT, National Highway Traffic Safety Administration NHTSA.

Moolenaar, D.E. (2014). Motorist's response to an increase in traffic fines. *Journal of criminology, 2014*.

de Figueiredo, L. F. P., Rasslan, S., Bruscagin, V., Cruz Jr, R., & e Silva, M. R. (2001). Increases in fines and driver licence withdrawal have effectively reduced immediate deaths from trauma on Brazilian roads: first-year report on the new traffic code. *Injury*, *32*(2), 91-94.

Montag, J. (2014). A radical change in traffic law: effects on fatalities in the Czech Republic. *Journal of Public Health, 36*(4), 539-545.

Izquierdo, F. A., Ramirez, B. A., McWilliams, J. M., & Ayuso, J. P. (2011). The endurance of the effects of the penalty point system in Spain three years after. Main influencing factors. *Accident Analysis & Prevention, 43*(3), 911-922.

<sup>75</sup> Goldenbeld, Ch. (2017), Increasing traffic fines, European Road Safety Decision Support System, developed by the H2020 project SafetyCube.

<sup>76</sup> Elvik, R. (2016). Association between increase in fixed penalties and road safety outcomes A meta-analysis. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 92, 202-210.

<sup>77</sup> Weatherburn, D., & Moffatt, S. (2011). The specific deterrent effect of higher fines on drink-driving offenders. *The British Journal of Criminology*, *51*(5), 789-803.

<sup>78</sup> Walting, C. N., & Leal, N. L. (2012). Exploring perceived legitimacy of traffic law enforcement. National Conference, Sydney, Australia, 1-13.

<sup>79</sup> Goldenbeld, C., Mesken, J., & van Schagen, I. (2013). The effect of severity and type of traffic penalties on car drivers'.

<sup>80</sup> Zaal D. *Traffic law enforcement: a review of the literature*. Melbourne, Monash University Accident Research Centre, 1994 (Report #53) (http://www.monash.edu.au/miri/ research/reports/muarc053.html, accessed 10 January 2013).

<sup>81</sup> Watson, B., Siskind, V., Fleiter, J., Watson, A., & Soole, D. (2015) Assessing specific deterrence effects of increased speeding penalties using four measures of recidivism. Accident Analysis and Prevention, 84, pp. 27-37.

<sup>82</sup> Radelet, M. L., & Lacock, T. L. (2008). Do Executions Lower Homicide Rates: The Views of Leading Criminologists'. *J. Crim. L. & Criminology*, 99, 489.

<sup>83</sup> Job, R.F.S. (2011). Management of speed and young driver programs: Evaluations in NSW. Invited guest speaker to Gulf Traffic Conference, Kuwait City, Kuwait, March 2011.

<sup>84</sup> Zaal, D. (1994). *Traffic law enforcement: A review of the literature*.

<sup>85</sup> Elvik, R., & Christensen, P. (2007). The deterrent effect of increasing fixed penalties for traffic offences: the Norwegian experience. *Journal of safety research*, *38*(6), 689-695.

Oleinik, A. (2016). Corruption on the road: A case study of Russian traffic police. *IATSS research*, *40*(1), 19-25.

Meyers, A. R., Heeren, T., & Hingson, R. (1989). Discretionary leniency in police enforcement of laws against drinking and driving: Two examples from the state of Maine, USA. *Journal of criminal justice*, *17*(3), 179-186.

<sup>86</sup> Andreoni, J. (1991). Reasonable doubt and the optimal magnitude of fines: should the penalty fit the crime?. *The RAND Journal of Economics*, 385-395.

#### <sup>87</sup> See examples:

Snyder, E.A. "The Effect of Higher Criminal Penalties on Antitrust Enforcement." Journal of Law and Economics, Vol. 28 (1990), pp. 439-462.

Vidmar, N. "Effects of Decision Alternatives on the Verdict and Social Perceptions of Simulated Jurors." Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, Vol. 22 (1972), pp. 211-218. Andreoni, J. (1991). Reasonable doubt and the optimal magnitude of fines: should the penalty fit the crime?. *The RAND Journal of Economics*, 385-395.

<sup>88</sup> Hamilton, C. (2004). Making fines fairer. *The Australia Institute, Canberra. Online, retrieved March, 21*, 2005.

Moffatt, S., & Poynton, S. (2007). Deterrent Effect of Higher Fines on Recidivism: Driving Offences, The. *BOCSAR NSW Crime and Justice Bulletins*, 15.

As of November 2019, countries such as Finland, Switzerland, the UK adopt income-based fines. However, countries may change their policies any time and individuals may directly check with countries for their current policies.

<sup>89</sup> World Health Organization. (2013). *Strengthening road safety legislation: a practice and resource manual for countries*. World Health Organization.

<sup>90</sup> Graham, A. (1998). Evaluation of the Double Demerit Points Initiative In NSW. Paper presented at the 1998 Australasian Research, Policing and Education Conference, Wellington. 1998.

<sup>91</sup> Office of Road Safety (2009). Double Demerits Evaluation 2009. Prepared by Synovate Pty Ltd.

<sup>92</sup> Nagin, D. S. & Pogarsky, G. (2001). Integrating celerity, impulsivity, and extralegal sanction threats into a model of general deterrence: Theory and evidence. Criminology, 39, 865-891.

<sup>93</sup> See examples:

Homel R. (1988). *Policing and Punishing the Drinking Driver: A Study of Specific and General Deterrence*. Springer-Verlag: New York.

Nagin, S, Pogarsky G. Integrating celerity, impulsivity, and extralegal sanction threats into a model of general deterrence: theory and evidence. Criminol 2001; 39:865–89.

McArthur DL, Kraus JF. The specific deterrence of administrative per se laws in reducing drunk driving recidivism. Am J Prev Med 1999; 16:68–75.

<sup>94</sup> Nichols, J. L. & Ross, H. L. (1990). The effectiveness of legal sanctions in dealing with drinking drivers. Alcohol, Drugs and Driving, 6(2), 33-60.

<sup>95</sup> Williams A., Weinberg K. and Fields M. (1991). 'The Effectiveness of Administrative License Suspension Laws', *Alcohol, Drugs and Driving,* Vol. 7, No 1, 55-62.

<sup>96</sup> https://www.servicenl.gov.nl.ca/faq/admin\_suspensions\_ faq.html

<sup>97</sup> https://www.politiet.no/en/services/driving-licence-andpassenger-carrying-vehicle-drivers-licence/fines-penaltycharges-and-other-sanctions/

#### <sup>98</sup> Example in Australia:

https://www.rms.nsw.gov.au/roads/safety-rules/demeritsoffences/suspension-disqualification/index.html <sup>99</sup> Sunshine, J., & Tyler, T. R. (2003). The role of procedural justice and legitimacy in shaping public support for policing. *Law & society review*, *37*(3), 513-548.

#### <sup>100</sup> See examples:

Bradford, B., Hohl, K., Jackson, J., & MacQueen, S. (2015). Obeying the rules of the road: Procedural justice, social identity, and normative compliance. *Journal of contemporary criminal justice*, *31*(2), 171-191.

Tyler, T. R. (2003). Procedural justice, legitimacy, and the effective rule of law. *Crime and justice*, *30*, 283-357.

Mazerolle, L., Bennett, S., Antrobus, E., & Eggins, E. (2012). Procedural justice, routine encounters and citizen perceptions of police: Main findings from the Queensland Community Engagement Trial (QCET). *Journal of experimental criminology*, *8*(4), 343-367.

<sup>101</sup> Mazerolle, L., Bennett, S., Antrobus, E., & Eggins, E. (2012). Procedural justice, routine encounters and citizen perceptions of police: Main findings from the Queensland Community Engagement Trial (QCET). *Journal of experimental criminology*, *8*(4), 343-367.

<sup>102</sup> Van den Bos, K., Wilke, H. A., & Lind, E. A. (1998). When do we need procedural fairness? The role of trust in authority. *Journal of Personality and social Psychology*, *75*(6), 1449.

<sup>103</sup> Goodman-Delahunty, J. (2010). Four ingredients: New recipes for procedural justice in Australian policing. *Policing: A journal of Policy and Practice*, *4*(4), 403-410.

<sup>104</sup> See examples of discrimination:

Fleiter, J.J., Watson, B.C., Lennon, A.J.,King, M.J. & Shi, K. (2009) *Speeding in Australia and China: a comparison of the influence of legal sanctions and enforcement practices on car drivers*. In: 2009 Australasian Road Safety Research, Policing and Education Conference: Smarter, Safer Directions, 10-12 November 2009, Sydney Convention and Exhibition Centre, Sydney, New South Wales.

Farrell, A. (2015). Explaining leniency: Organizational predictors of the differential treatment of men and women in traffic stops. *Crime & Delinquency*, *61*(4), 509-537.

<sup>105</sup> Knoebel K.Y and Ross H.L. (1996). *Effects of Administrative License Revocation on Employment*, National Highway Traffic Safety Administration, U.S. Department of Transportation, Washington DC.

<sup>106</sup> Gielen AC, Sleet DA, Green LW. Community models and approaches for intervention. In: Gielen AC, Sleet DA, DiClemente RJ, eds. *Injury and violence prevention*. Jossey-Bass, 2006:65–82.

<sup>107</sup> Zambon F. The subtle trade-off between personal freedom and social responsibility. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 2008, 62:90.

<sup>108</sup> Vereeck, L., & Vrolix, K. (2007). The social willingness to comply with the law: The effect of social attitudes on traffic fatalities. *International Review of Law and Economics*, *27*(4), 385-408.

<sup>109</sup> Castillo-Manzano, J. I., Castro-Nuño, M., & Fageda, X. (2015). Are traffic violators criminals? Searching for answers in the experiences of European countries. *Transport policy*, *38*, 86-94.

<sup>110</sup> World Health Organization. (2013). *Strengthening road safety legislation: a practice and resource manual for countries*. World Health Organization.

<sup>111</sup> Elvik, R., & Christensen, P. (2007). The deterrent effect of increasing fixed penalties for traffic offences: the Norwegian experience. *Journal of Safety Research*, *38*(6), 689-695.

<sup>112</sup> More information can be found in the Guide for Determining Readiness for Speed Cameras and Other Automated Enforcement (2020): https://www.grsproadsafety. org/wp-content/uploads/Guide-for-Determining-Readinessfor-Speed-Cameras.pdf

<sup>113</sup> Moolenaar, D. E. (2014). Motorist's response to an increase in traffic fines. *Journal of criminology*, 2014.

<sup>114</sup> Bar-Ilan, A., & Sacerdote, B. (2001). *The response to fines and probability of detection in a series of experiments* (No. w8638). National Bureau of Economic Research.

<sup>115</sup> Elvik, R. & Christensen, P. (2007). The deterrent effect of increasing fixed penalties for traffic offences: The Norwegian experience. *Journal of Safety Research, 38*, 689–695.

<sup>116</sup> Elvik, R. & Christensen, P. (2007). The deterrent effect of increasing fixed penalties for traffic offences: The Norwegian experience. *Journal of Safety Research, 38*, 689–695.

<sup>117</sup> Elvik, R. (2016). Association between increase in fixed penalties and road safety outcomes: A metaanalysis. *Accident Analysis & Prevention, 92*, 202-210.

<sup>118</sup> Yagil, D. (1998). Instrumental and normative motives for compliance with traffic laws among young and older drivers. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, *30*(4), 417-424.

<sup>119</sup> ETSC (European Transport Safety Council) (2008). Combatting speed through Penalty Point Systems. Speed Fact Sheet, 2, June. Brussels, Belgium.

<sup>120</sup> Goldenbeld, C., Reurings, M., Van Norden, Y., & Stipdonk, H. (2013). Crash Involvement of Motor Vehicles in Relationship to the Number and Severity of Traffic Offenses. An Exploratory Analysis of Dutch Traffic Offenses and Crash Data. *Traffic Injury Prevention*, *14*(6), 584–591. doi:10.1080/15 389588.2012.743125

<sup>121</sup> European Transport Safety Council. (2012). Demerit point system saves lives: Results from the EU funded research project BESTPOINT. ETSC. Retrieved from www.etsc.eu/ documents/PR\_Bestpoint.pdf

<sup>122</sup> Fleiter, JJ. and Watson, BC. and Lennon, AJ. and King, MJ. and Shi, K (2009) *Speeding in Australia and China: a comparison of the influence of legal sanctions and enforcement practices on car drivers.* In: 2009 Australasian Road Safety Research, Policing and Education Conference: Smarter, Safer Directions, 10-12 November 2009, Sydney Convention and Exhibition Centre, Sydney, New South Wales. Schagen, I. van & Machata, K. (2012). *The BestPoint Handbook: Getting the best out of a Demerit Point System. Deliverable 3 of the EC project*. BestPoint. Vienna: Kuratorium für Verkehrssicherheit KfV.

<sup>123</sup> Zambon, F., Fedeli, U., Visentin, C., Marchesan, M., Avossa, F., Brocco, S., & Spolaore, P. (2007). Evidence-based policy on road safety: the effect of the demerit points system on seat belt use and health outcomes. *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health*, *61*(10), 877-881.

De Paola, M., Scoppa, V., & Falcone, M. (2013). The deterrent effects of the penalty points system for driving offences: a regression discontinuity approach. *Empirical Economics*, *45*(2), 965-985.

Novoa, A. M., Pérez, K., Santamariña-Rubio, E., Marí-Dell'Olmo, M., Ferrando, J., Peiró, R., ... & Borrell, C. (2010). Impact of the penalty points system on road traffic injuries in Spain: A time-series study. *American journal of public health*, *100*(11), 2220-2227.

Castillo-Manzano, J. I., Castro-Nuno, M., & Pedregal, D. J. (2010). An econometric analysis of the effects of the penalty points system driver's license in Spain. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, *42*(4), 1310-1319.

<sup>124</sup> Mehmood, A. (2010). Evaluating impact of demerit points system on speeding behavior of drivers. *European Transport Research Review, 2*(1), 25-30.

Hussain, O. T., Nayyar, M. S., Brady, F. A., Beirne, J. C., & Stassen, L. F. A. (2006). Speeding and maxillofacial injuries: impact of the introduction of penalty points for speeding offences. *British Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery*, *44*(1), 15-19.

<sup>125</sup> Castillo-Manzano, J. I., & Castro-Nuño, M. (2012). Driving licenses based on points systems: Efficient road safety strategy or latest fashion in global transport policy? A worldwide meta-analysis. *Transport Policy*, *21*, 191-201.

<sup>126</sup> Klipp, S., Machata, K., & van Schagen, I. (2013). The EU BestPoint project: Getting the best out of a demerit point system. In *Proceedings of the 2013 Australasian Road Safety Research, Policing & Education Conference 28th - 30th August*. Brisbane, QLD. Retrieved from http://acrs.org.au/files/ arsrpe/Paper%2024%20-%20Klipp%20-%20Traffic%20 Leg%20&%20Enforcement.pdf

Basili, M., Belloc, F., & Nicita, A. (2015). Group attitude and hybrid sanctions: Micro-econometric evidence from traffic law. *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice*, *78*, 325–336. doi:10.1016/j.tra.2015.05.019

<sup>127</sup> Abay, K. A. (2014). Monetary or Non-Monetary Instruments for Safe Driving: Panel Data Evidence on the Effect of Demerit-Point–System in Denmark. *Econ. ku. dk.* 

<sup>128</sup> Goldenbeld, Ch (2017). Demerit point system, European Road Safety Decision Support Systems, developed by the H2020 project SafetyCube. Retrieved from www.roadsafetydss.eu on 22/12/20

<sup>129</sup> ETSC (European Transport Safety Council) (2008). Combatting speed through Penalty Point Systems. Speed Fact Sheet, 2, June. Brussels, Belgium. <sup>130</sup> See examples:

Nicholls J.L. and Ross H.L. (1990). 'The Effectiveness of Legal Sanctions in Dealing with Drinking Drivers', *Alcohol, Drugs and Driving*, Vol. 6, No. 2, 33-60, 1990.

Mirrlees-Black C. (1993). *Disqualification from Driving: and Effective Penalty?*, Paper 74, Research and Planning Unit, Home Office, London.

Fleiter, J. J., Lennon, A., & Watson, B. (2007). *Choosing not to speed: A qualitative exploration of differences in perceptions about speed limit compliance and related issues*. Paper presented at the Australasian Road Safety Research Policing Education Conference, Melbourne, 17-19 October.

Lenton, S., Fetherston, J., & Cercarelli, R. (2010). Recidivist drink drivers' self-reported reasons for driving whilst unlicensed – A qualitative study. *Accident Analysis and Prevention*, *42*, 637-644.

McCartt, A. T., Geary, L. L., & Nissen, W. J. (2002). *Observational study of the extent of driving while suspended for alcohol-impaired driving* (Report No. DOT HS 809 491). Washington, DC: National Highway Traffic Safety Administration. Retrieved from http://one.nhtsa.gov/people/ injury/research/observation\_study/index.htm

<sup>131</sup> Masten, S.V. & Peck, R.C. (2004). Problem driver remediation; A meta-analysis of the driver improvement literature. Journal of Safety Research, 35, 403-425.

<sup>132</sup> Goldenbeld, Ch (2017), Licence suspension, European Road Safety Decision Support System, developed by the H2020 project SafetyCube. Retrieved from www.roadsafetydss.eu on 04/01/2021

<sup>133</sup> Watson, A., Kaye, S., Fleiter, J., & Freeman, J.E. (2020) Effectiveness of vehicle impoundment for high-range speeding offences in Victoria, Australia. *Accident Analysis and Prevention, 145*, Article number: 105690.

<sup>134</sup> Asbridge, M., Mann, R.E., Smart, R.G., Stoduto, G., Beirness, D., Lamble, R., & Vingilis, E. (2009). The effects of Ontario's administrative driver's licence suspension law on total driver fatalities: A multiple time series analysis. Drugs: Education, Prevention and Policy, 16, 140-151.

<sup>135</sup> Wagenaar, A. C., & Maldonado-Molina, M. M. (2007). Effects of drivers' license suspension policies on alcoholrelated crash involvement: Long-term follow-up in forty-six states. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, *31*, 1399-1406.

<sup>136</sup> Soole, D.W., Haworth, N.L., & Watson, B.C. (2008) Immediate licence suspension to deter high-risk behaviours. In *High risk road users - motivating behaviour change: what works and what doesn't work? National Conference of the Australasian College of Road Safety and the Travelsafe Committee of the Queensland Parliament*, 18-19 September 2008, Brisbane

Byrne, P. A., Ma, T., Mann, R. E., & Elzohairy, Y. (2016). Evaluation of the general deterrence capacity of recently implemented (2009–2010) low and zero BAC requirements for drivers in Ontario. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, *88*, 56-67. <sup>137</sup> Goldenbeld, Ch (2017), Licence suspension, European Road Safety Decision Support System, developed by the H2020 project SafetyCube. Retrieved from www.roadsafetydss.eu on 04/01/2021

<sup>138</sup> See examples:

Nicholls J.L. and Ross H.L. (1990). 'The Effectiveness of Legal Sanctions in Dealing with Drinking Drivers', *Alcohol, Drugs and Driving*, Vol. 6, No. 2, 33-60, 1990.

Mirrlees-Black C. (1993). *Disqualification from Driving: and Effective Penalty?*, Paper 74, Research and Planning Unit, Home Office, London.

<sup>139</sup> Watson B. and Siskind V. (1997). 'The effectiveness of licence restriction for drink drivers', *1997Road Safety Research and Enforcement Conference*, Hobart, 9-12 November 1997.

<sup>140</sup> Byrne, P. A., Ma, T., & Elzohairy, Y. (2016). Vehicle impoundments improve drinking and driving licence suspension outcomes: Large-scale evidence from Ontario. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, *95*, 125-131.

<sup>17</sup>Leal, N., Watson, B., Armstrong, K., & King, M (2009) "There's no way in hell I would pull up": Deterrent and other effects of vehicle impoundment laws for hooning. In: Proceedings of the 2009 Australasian Road Safety Research, Policing and Education Conference and the 2009 Intelligence Speed Adaptation (ISA) Conference, 10-12 November 2009, Sydney Convention and Exhibition Centre, Sydney.

<sup>142</sup> Voas, R. B., & DeYoung, D. J. (2002). Vehicle action: effective policy for controlling drunk and other high-risk drivers? *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, *34*(3), 263-270.

Voas, R. B., Fell, J. C., McKnight, A. S., & Sweedler, B. M. (2004). Controlling impaired driving through vehicle programs: An overview. *Traffic injury prevention*, *5*(3), 292-298.

<sup>143</sup> Watson, A., Kaye, S., Fleiter, J., & Freeman, J.E. (2020). Effectiveness of vehicle impoundment for high-range speeding offences in Victoria, Australia. *Accident Analysis and Prevention*, *145*, Article number: 105690.

<sup>144</sup> DeYoung, D. J. (1999). An evaluation of the specific deterrent effects of vehicle impoundment on suspended, revoked, and unlicensed drivers in California. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, *31*(1-2), 45-53.

<sup>145</sup> NHTSA. (2008e). *Vehicle and license plate sanctions* (Traffic Safety Facts --Laws. Report No. DOT HS 810 880). Washington, DC: Author. Retrieved from www.nhtsa.gov/ DOT/NHTSA/Communication%20&%20Consumer%20 Information/Articles/Associated%20Files/810880.pdf

Rogers, A. (1995). Effects of Minnesota's license plate impoundment law on recidivism of multiple DWI violators. *Journal of Safety Research*, *26*, 125-126.

<sup>146</sup> Leaf, W. A., & Preusser, D. F. (2011). Evaluation of Minnesota's vehicle plate impoundment law for impaired drivers (Report No. DOT HS 811 351). Washington, DC: National Highway Traffic Safety Administration. Retrieved from www. nhtsa.gov/staticfiles/nti/pdf/811351.pdf <sup>147</sup> National Transportation Safety Board. (2000). *Actions to reduce fatalities, injuries, and crashes involving the hard core drinking driver* (NTSB/SR-00/01). http://permanent.access.gpo.gov/websites/www.ntsb.gov/publictn/2000/SR0001.pdf

<sup>148</sup> Voas, R. B., Tippetts, S., & Taylor, E. (1998). Temporary Vehicle Impoundment in Ohio: A Replication and Confirmation. *Accident Analysis and Prevention*, *30*, 651-655.

<sup>149</sup> Voas, R. B., Tippetts, A. S., Bergen, G., Grosz, M., & Marques, P. (2016). Mandating treatment based on interlock performance: evidence for effectiveness. *Alcoholism: clinical and experimental research*, *40*(9), 1953-1960.

<sup>150</sup> Voas, R. B., Fell, J. C., McKnight, A. S., & Sweedler, B. M. (2004). Controlling impaired driving through vehicle programs: An overview. *Traffic injury prevention*, *5*(3), 292-298.

Siegfried, N., & Parry, C. (2019). Do alcohol control policies work? An umbrella review and quality assessment of systematic reviews of alcohol control interventions (2006–2017). *PloS one, 14*(4), e0214865.

McCartt, A. T., Leaf, W. A., & Farmer, C. M. (2018). Effects of Washington State's alcohol ignition interlock laws on DUI recidivism: An update. *Traffic injury prevention*, *19*(7), 665-674.

Voas, R. B., Tippetts, A. S., Bergen, G., Grosz, M., & Marques, P. (2016). Mandating treatment based on interlock performance: evidence for effectiveness. *Alcoholism: clinical and experimental research, 40*(9), 1953-1960.

Baker E.A. and Beck K.H. (1991). 'Ignition Interlocks for DWI Offenders - A Useful Tool?', *Alcohol, Drugs and Driving*, Vol. 7, No 2, 107-115.

Morse B.J. and Elliott D.S. (1992). 'Effects of Ignition Interlock Devices on DUI Recidivism: Findings From a Longitudinal Study in Hamilton County, Ohio', *Crime & Delinquency*, Vol.38, No.2, 131-157.

<sup>151</sup> Filtness, A., Sheehan, M., Fleiter, J., Armstrong, K., & Freeman, J. (2015) *Options for rehabilitation in interlock programs [Austroads Project No. SS1755 / Austroads Publication No. AP-R484-15]*. Austroads, Australia.

<sup>152</sup> Mann, R. E., Leigh, G., Vingilis, E. R., & De Genova, K. (1983). A critical review on the effectiveness of drinkingdriving rehabilitation programmes. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, *15*(6), 441-461.

#### <sup>153</sup> See examples:

Slootmans, F., Martensen, H., Kluppels, L., Meesmann, U (2017), Rehabilitation courses as alternative measure for drink-driving offenders, European Road Safety Decision Support System, developed by the H2020 project SafetyCube. Retrieved from www.roadsafety-dss.eu on 04/01/2021

Watson, B. (1998) The Effectiveness of Drink Driving Licence Actions, Remedial Programs and Vehicle-based Sanctions. In *Proceedings from the 19th ARRB Conference*. ARRB Transport Research Ltd,, Vermount South, Victoria, pp. 66-87. <sup>154</sup> Slootmans, F., Martensen, H., Kluppels, L., Meesmann, U. (2017). Rehabilitation courses as alternative measure for drink-driving offenders, European Road Safety Decision Support System, developed by the H2020 project SafetyCube. Retrieved from www.roadsafety-dss.eu on 04/01/2021

<sup>155</sup> National Transportation Safety Board. (2000). *Actions to reduce fatalities, injuries, and crashes involving the hard core drinking driver* (NTSB/SR-00/01). Retrieved from the NTSB website: www.ntsb.gov/publictn/2000/sr0001.pdf

Wagenaar, A. C., Maldonado-Molina, M. M., Erickson, D. J., Ma, L., Tobler, A. L., & Komro, K. A. (2007). General deterrence effects of U.S. statutory DUI fine and jail penalties: Long-term follow-up in 32 states. Accident Analysis and Prevention, 39, 982-994.

Spelman, W. 2000, 'What Recent Studies Do (and Don't) Tell Us about Imprisonment and Crime', in M. Tonry (ed), *Crime and Justice: A Review of Research, vol. 27*, University of Chicago Press, Chicago.

<sup>156</sup> Voas, R. B., & Lacey, J. H. (2011). *Alcohol and highway safety* 2006: A review of the state of knowledge (Report No. DOT HS 811 374). Washington, DC: National Highway Traffic Safety Administration. Retrieved from www.nhtsa.gov/staticfiles/ nti/pdf/811374.pdf

<sup>157</sup> Wagenaar, A. C., Zobek, T. S., Williams, G. D., & Hingson, R. (2000). *Effects of DWI control efforts: A systematic review of the literature from 1960-1991.* Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota School of Public Health.

<sup>158</sup> Ross, H. L., & Voas, R. B. (1990). The new Philadelphia story: The effects of severe punishment for drunk driving. Law and Policy, 12, 51-79.

<sup>159</sup> Kunitz, S. J., Woodall, W. G., Zhao, H., Wheeler, D. R., Lillis, R., & Rogers, E. (2002). Rearrest rates after incarceration for DWI: A comparative study in a southwestern U.S. county. American Journal of Public Health, 92, 1826-1831.

<sup>160</sup> Zaidel, D. M. (2002). The impact of enforcement on accidents. *The 'Escape" Project (Enhanced Safety Coming from Appropriate Police Enforcement) Deliverable*, *3*, 1-59.

<sup>161</sup> See example:

Schagen, I. van & Machata, K. (2012). *The BestPoint Handbook: Getting the best out of a Demerit Point System. Deliverable 3 of the EC project*. BestPoint. Vienna: Kuratorium für Verkehrssicherheit KfV.

<sup>162</sup> Masten, S. V., & Peck, R. C. (2004). Problem driver remediation: a meta-analysis of the driver improvement literature. *Journal of safety Research*, *35*(4), 403-425.

### **Global Road Safety Partnership**

### Seneva Office

c/o International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies P.O. Box 303 Chemin des Crêts, 17 Petit-Sacconex, 1209 Geneva Switzerland Email: grsp@ifrc.org Tel: +41 22 730 4249 Fax: +41 22 733 0395

### **\** Kuala Lumpur Office

Menara Tokio Marine Life, Level 10, 189 Jalan Tun Razak, 50400 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia Tel: +603 9207 5700

### Sudapest Office Budapest, Váci út 30. 4.em.,

1132 Hungary Tel: +36 1 888 4500

For more information about how to join the Global Road Safety Partnership please visit our website **www.grsproadsafety.org** 

